

**Bureau** of Mines **Report of Investigations 4806** 

## THE THERMODYNAMICS OF COMBUSTION GASE **GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS**

0

BY STUART R. BRINKLEY, JR., AND BERNARD LEWIS



LIBRARY OF CONGRESS REFERENCE DEPARTMENT TECHNICAL INFORMATION DIVISION (NAVY RESEARCH SECTION)

MAY 29 1952

3

19950502 116 =United States Department of the Interior — April 1952

DTIC QUALITY INCRECTED 5

# THE THERMODYNAMICS OF COMBUSTION GASES: GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS

BY STUART R. BRINKLEY, JR., AND BERNARD LEWIS

\* \* \* \* \* \*

Accesio					
NTIS DTIC Unanno Justifica	CRA&I TAB unced ation				
By Distribution /					
Availability Codes					
Dist	Avail and / or Special				
12					



**Report of Investigations 4806** 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR Oscar L. Chapman, Secretary BUREAU OF MINES J. J. Forbes, Director

Work on manuscript completed March 1951. The Bureau of Mines will welcome reprinting of this paper, provided the following footnote acknowledgment is made: "Reprinted from Bureau of Mines Report of Investigations 4806."

## THE THERMODYNAMICS OF COMBUSTION GASES: GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS

by'

Stuart R. Brinkley, Jr.<sup>1/</sup> and Bernard Lewis<sup>2/</sup>

### CONTENTS

		Page
I.	Introduction and summary	1
II.	Acknowledgments	2
III.	Stoichiometry and application of the phase rule	2
	Description of carbon, hydrogen, oxygen, nitrogen systems	3
	The components	5
	Conditions for equilibrium	7
	Degrees of freedom of carbon, hydrogen, oxygen, nitrogen systems	9
IV.	Calculation of the equilibrium composition	11
	The general method	12
	A special method	16
	Modifications for computation at a specified density	20
	Calculation of the equilibrium composition of imperfect gas mixtures	22
<b>v.</b>	Computation programs for carbon-hydrogen-oxygen-nitrogen systems	25
	The general method for lean mixtures	26
	A special method for lean mixtures	30
	The general method for rich mixtures without solid carbon	33
	A special method for rich mixtures without solid carbon	39
	A special method for homogeneous mixtures at high temperatures	42
	The general method for rich mixtures with solid carbon	47
VI.	The thermodynamic properties of gas mixtures	54
	The state variables	54
	The thermodynamic properties of ideal gas mixtures	55
	The thermodynamic properties of imperfect gas mixtures	58
VII.	Description of a generalized table of the equilibrium composition and thermodynamic properties of combustion gases	59

1/ Head, Mathematical and Theoretical Physics Section, Explosives and Physical Sciences Division, Bureau of Mines, Pittsburgh, Pa.

Report of Investigations 4806

<sup>2/</sup> Chief, Explosives and Physical Sciences Division, Bureau of Mines, Pittsburgh, Pa.

## I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY

For a theoretical description of power plants that derive their energy from the combustion of a fuel, it is necessary to solve, to an appropriate degree of precision, a hydrodynamic problem that requires for its solution a knowledge of the thermodynamic properties of the working fluid composed of the products of the combustion reaction. It is usually a good approximation to assume that the properties of the combustion gas are determined by the conditions of thermal equilibrium, and it is thus possible to employ the methods of classical thermodynamics for their computation. The thermodynamic properties of fuel gases also are of considerable importance, as they form the basis for the design of appropriate means for their effective utilization. The specification of the operating conditions to produce a gas for use as an intermediate in a chemical process, such as the synthesis of liquid fuels, may be based upon a study of the variation of the composition of the synthesis gas with changes in the various process variables.

Although there exist a large number of important scientific and technical applications of the data that can be obtained from the systematic determination of the thermodynamic properties of combustion gases, such application has been greatly handicapped by the extremely tedious and time-consuming computational methods required. The development of large-scale automatic computational equipment makes feasible the initiation of a systematic program for the determination of the thermodynamic properties of combustion gases and for the application of such data to specific problems of scientific and technical importance.

As a part of its program of basic research in flame and combustion phenomena, the Explosives and Physical Sciences Division of the Bureau of Mines is engaged in such a program. The present communication is designed to introduce a series of reports presenting the results of this program.

There has long existed a need for systematic and economical methods for the calculation of the thermodynamic properties of systems of many constituents, and this need is emphasized by the application of automatic computational equipment. In the present report, we wish to assemble the methods that have been employed in this laboratory and that have been shown to be particularly well-adapted to routine application.

Consideration of the thermodynamics of combustion gases is introduced by a discussion of the stoichiometry of multicomponent systems and of applications of the phase rule to such systems. This formal treatment serves to introduce the notation that will be employed consistently throughout the remainder of the report, and it establishes the conditions for equilibrium in multicomponent systems in a mathematical form that is particularly appropriate for computational procedures.

Two methods are described for the calculation of the equilibrium composition of systems of many constituents. These methods are employed in the formulation of several specific computational programs for the calculation of the equilibrium composition of systems composed of compounds of carbon, hydrogen, oxygen, and nitrogen.

Throughout this report, we assume that the ideal gas law provides an adequate equation of state for the gaseous phase. However, it is shown that the methods for the calculation of equilibrium composition are easily generalized to take account of gas imperfections, and that this generalization does not affect in any important respect the detailed computational programs already formulated. The necessary general relations are summarized. They can be applied to specific forms of the equation of state without difficulty.

The calculation of the thermodynamic properties of the equilibrium mixture is straightforward after the composition of the mixture is known. We summarize briefly the well-known thermodynamic relations that are employed for this purpose.

We conclude with a description of a massive generalized table of the equilibrium composition and thermodynamic properties at equilibrium of the four-component system containing compounds of carbon, hydrogen, oxygen, and nitrogen. The table will list the composition and thermodynamic properties over an extended range of temperature and pressure, and it will include all possible combinations of the four elements, the spacing of calculated points being small enough to permit accurate interpolation. The table will be the result of about half a million individual computations, and its construction utilizes the computational methods described in this report.

#### II. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The numerical calculations by means of which the generalized table, referred to above, is being constructed were performed on the Electronic Numerical Integrator and Calculator (the ENIAC) at the Ballistic Research Laboratory, Aberdeen Proving Ground, Md. This calculator was made available for this program by the Office of the Chief of Ordnance, Department of the Army. The authors are greatly indebted to L. S. Diderick, of the Ballistic Research Laboratory, for his interest and continued cooperation. They wish to record their appreciation of the labors on this project of all of the members of the ENIAC staff. The assistance of John V. Holberton and Helen Mark in preparing the programs for the ENIAC is gratefully acknowledged.

Portions of this research have been carried out as part of Project No. NA onr 25-47, supported by the Office of Naval Research and the Air Force.

#### III. STOICHIOMETRY AND APPLICATION OF THE PHASE RULE

The composition and the thermodynamic properties of a mixture at equilibrium are independent of the path by which equilibrium is attained. From the point of view of thermodynamics, the molecular form in which the different elements are initially introduced to the system is therefore irrelevant, and it suffices to specify the gross composition of the system in terms of the elements contained by it. As the composition of the system at equilibrium is most appropriately expressed in terms of intensive quantities (mole fractions), the results are independent of the total size of the system, which may be taken to be any convenient value. Therefore, if the number of different elements in the system is m, it is sufficient for a unique description of the system to specify the number of gram atoms of m-1 elements relative to an arbitrary amount of the m-th element, i.e., to specify values of the quantities  $(X^{(k)}/X^{(m)})$  k = 1, 2, ... m-1, where

$$Q_{k} = (X^{(k)}/X^{(m)}) Q_{m},$$
 (3.1)

and  $Q_k$  and  $Q_m$  are the number of gram atoms of the k-th and m-th elements, respectively, available to the system. Alternatively, one may specify m-1 different linearly independent combinations of these ratios  $R_{km}$ . We note that it is not always necessary to specify as many as m-1 different quantities.

#### Description of Carbon, Hydrogen, Oxygen, Nitrogen Systems

A large number of different sets of parameters can be employed for the description of the gross composition of any given system. In this section, we introduce certain parameters that are particularly convenient for the description of systems composed of compounds of carbon, hydrogen, oxygen, and nitrogen, and we deduce several relations that will be employed later. Alternative descriptions may be transposed into the language of this section by obvious algebraic procedures.

For a discussion of the thermodynamics of combustion gases, it is convenient for the description of the gross composition of the system to employ the parameters,

$$A = Q_N / (4Q_C + Q_H + Q_N),$$
  

$$B = Q_H / (4Q_C + Q_H),$$
 (3.2)  

$$C = 2Q_O / (4Q_C + Q_H + 2Q_O),$$

where  $Q_C$ ,  $Q_H$ ,  $Q_O$ ,  $Q_N$  are the number of the gram atoms of carbon, hydrogen, oxygen, and nitrogen, respectively, available to the system. Quantity C is a measure of the amount of oxygen actually available to the system relative to that required for conversion of all of the carbon to carbon dioxide and all of the hydrogen to steam. At this stoichiometric point C = 1/2. Rich fueloxidant systems are characterized by C < 1/2 and lean systems by C > 1/2.

It will be shown that for the characterization of rich fuel oxidant systems consisting of a gas mixture in heterogeneous equilibrium with solid carbon, it is sometimes convenient to describe the relative hydrogen, oxygen, and nitrogen content by means of parameters that are independent of the amount of carbon. For this purpose, an appropriate set of parameters consists of

$$B = Q_{H}/(4Q_{C} + Q_{H})$$

$$D = Q_{N}/(Q_{H} + 2Q_{O} + Q_{N})$$

$$E = 2Q_{O}/(Q_{H} + 2Q_{O}).$$
(3.3)

(3.4)

We note the sets (3.2) and (3.3) are not independent, but that

$$D = \frac{A(1-C)}{(1-A) [B(1-C) + C] + A(1-C)}$$
$$E = \frac{C}{B(1-C) + C}$$

- 3 -

Equations (3.2) or (3.3) determine the amounts available to the system of three of the elements relative to the amount available of the fourth. If oxygen is selected as the reference element, then

$$(C/O) = \frac{Q_C}{Q_O} = \frac{(1-B)(1-C)}{2C} = \frac{(1-B)(1-E)}{2BE},$$

$$(H/O) = \frac{Q_H}{Q_O} = \frac{2B(1-C)}{C} = \frac{2(1-E)}{E},$$

$$(3.5)$$

$$(N/O) = \frac{Q_N}{Q_O} = \frac{2A(1-C)}{C(1-A)} = \frac{2D}{E(1-D)}$$

For the characterization of fuel-air systems, it is convenient to employ the parameters A, B, and C as defined by equations (3.2) to describe the relative concentrations of carbon, hydrogen, oxygen, and nitrogen of the fuel alone without regard to the constituents of air. These fuel parameters may be distinguished from their more general counterparts by a superscript f. Then, if the fuel-air ratio is determined by the general parameter C, taking account of the total available oxygen, it is easy to show that

$$(C/O) = \frac{b(1-B^{f})(1-C)(1-C^{f}) + c(C-C^{f})}{2bC(1-C^{f}) + 2c(C-C^{f})},$$

$$(H/O) = \frac{4bB^{f}(1-C)(1-C^{f})}{2bC(1-C^{f}) + 2c(C-C^{f})},$$

$$(N/O) = \frac{4bA^{f}(1-C)(1-C^{f})/(1-A^{f}) + 2a(C-C^{f})}{2bC(1-C^{f}) + 2c(C-C^{f})},$$

$$(3.6)$$

$$(A/O) = \frac{d(C-C^{f})}{2bC(1-C^{f}) + 2c(C-C^{f})},$$

where  $A^{f}$ ,  $B^{f}$ ,  $C^{f}$  are measures of the fuel composition, C is the measure of the total amount of available oxygen in fuel and air, and where a = 0.780881, b = 0.209495, c = 0.000300, and d = 0.009324. The composition by volume of dry air has been taken to be

Oxygen, 20.9495%		Carbon dioxide, 0.0300%			
Nitrogen	, 78.0881%	Rare gases (Argon), 0.9324%			

If the fuel is a hydrocarbon,  $A^{f} = C^{f} = 0$ , and equations (3.6) reduce to

$$(C/O) = \frac{b(1-B^{t})(1-C) + cC}{2C(b + c)},$$

$$(H/O) = \frac{4bB^{f}(1-C)}{2C(b+c)},$$

$$(N/O) = \frac{a}{b+c}, (A/O) = \frac{d}{2(b+c)}$$
(3.7)

#### The Components

In a system containing many constituents, it is possible to select certain constituents that are sufficient for the complete thermodynamic description of the composition. By this it is meant that if the system is conceived to consist of the selected constituents only, its gross composition (in terms of the amounts of each chemical element present) is completely defined. The constituents thus sufficient to describe the composition are called the components of the system. An analytical criterion has been published  $\frac{3}{}$  for the choice of the components. In terms of this criterion, the conditions for equilibrium may be written in a form that has a high degree of symmetry and is particularly well-adapted for formulating a computational method for the calculation of the equilibrium composition.

The number of constituents of any system depends upon the accuracy with which it is desired to describe its composition. The constituents to be considered must be chosen a priori, and this choice usually will imply the neglect of certain equilibria that may be expected to exert a negligible effect on the composition of the system at equilibrium.

Consider a closed system containing s different substances, which are assumed to be in chemical equilibrium. The molecular formula of the i-th substance may be represented by

$$Y^{(i)} = X^{(1)}_{\alpha i i} \cdots X^{(k)}_{\alpha i k} \cdots X^{(m)}_{\alpha i m}, \qquad (3.8)$$

 $i = 1, 2, \ldots s$ , where  $X^{(k)}$  is the symbol of the k-th element,  $\alpha_{ik}$  is the subscript (which may be zero) to this symbol in the formula to the i-th substance, and m is the total number of elements represented in the system. For every i, the array of subscripts  $\alpha_{ik}$ ,  $k = 1, 2, \ldots, m$ , may be said to define a vector

$$\mathbf{y}_{\mathbf{i}} = (\alpha_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{l}}, \ldots, \alpha_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{k}}, \ldots, \alpha_{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{m}}), \tag{3.9}$$

which may be called the formula vector of substance i. If the rank of the matrix of the vector elements  $\alpha_{ik}$  is c, it follows from a well-known theorem of algebra that there are c linearly independent vectors, and if  $c \leq s$  there are (s-c) linearly dependent vectors, which may be expressed as linear combinations of the independent vectors. It may be assumed that the independent vectors may be expressed as linear combinations of the values 1, 2, ..., c of their index. Then the dependent vectors may be expressed as linear combinations of the form

3/ Brinkley, S. R., Jr., Note on the Conditions of Equilibrium for Systems of Many Constituents: Jour. Chem. Phys., vol. 14, 1946, pp. 563-64.

- 5 -

$$\sum_{i=1}^{c} v_{ij} y_j = y_i,$$

i = c + 1, c + 2, . . . , s. To equation (3.10) there correspond (s - c) conceivable chemical reactions

$$\sum_{j=1}^{c} v_{ij} Y^{(j)} = Y^{(i)}, \qquad (3.11)$$

(3.10)

resulting in the formation, from the c substances with linearly independent formula vectors, of the (s-c) substances with linearly dependent formula vectors. It follows that the specification of c substances such that their formula vectors are linearly independent is sufficient for a description of the composition of the system. Therefore, the number of components of the system equals the rank c of the matrix of the subscripts to the symbols of the elements in the formulas of the substances comprising the system. The number of components is usually, but not necessarily, equal to the number of different elements in the system. It may be noted that the choice of independent vectors is not, in general, unique and that, in consequence, the choice of c substances as components and the expression of the remaining (s-c) substances as products of reactions involving only the chosen components is usually not unique. However, for the heterogeneous case, consisting of a gas mixture in equilibrium with a solid phase composed of a single constituent, these criteria can be satisfied only by the selection of that constituent as a component.

This discussion has demonstrated the possibility of a choice of components, which make it possible to express each of the dependent constituents as products of reactions involving components only. Our computational procedure for the determination of the equilibrium composition is based upon the possibility of writing down for the case of interest the reactions that are expressed by equations (3.11). In many cases it is possible to write these reactions immediately by intuition. In some cases it may be necessary to formulate the reactions of equations (3.11)by applying to the system under consideration the steps indicated by equations (3.8) to (3.10).

If the number of moles of the j-th component contained in the hypothetical system consisting of components only is denoted by  $q_i$ , it is evident that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{c} \alpha_{jk} q_j = Q_k, \qquad (3.12)$$

k = 1, 2, ..., m. We shall assume henceforth that the number of components c is equal to the number of different elements m. Introducing the ratios defined by equation (3.1), we obtain

$$\sum_{j=1}^{c} \alpha_{jk} q_j - (X^{(k)}/X^{(m)}) Q_m = 0.$$
(3.13)

For the systems to be considered in this report, it is convenient to assume that

$$\sum_{j=q_{j}=1,}^{j}$$
 (3.14)

where the operator  $\sum$  denotes a summation over the gaseous components only. Equations

(3.13) and (3.14) constitute c+1 linear nonhomogeneous equations in the quantities  $Q_m$  and  $q_j$ ;  $j = 1, 2, \ldots c$ , and they may be employed to express the  $q_j$  in terms of the ratios  $(X^{(k)}/X^{(m)})$  and thus in terms of the parameters employed for the description of the system. Equation (3.14) is equivalent to an assumption as to the total size of the system, the weight  $M_0$  of the gaseous phase being given by

$$M_{o} = \sum_{j}' q_{j} M_{j}, \qquad (3.15)$$

where  $M_j$  is the molecular weight of the j-th component. We shall call the constants  $q_j$ , determined by means of equations (3.13) and (3.14), the normalized stoichiometric constants.

#### Conditions for Equilibrium

The discussion of equilibrium in systems of many constituents assumes a particularly simple and symmetrical form in terms of the definitions that have been introduced. We consider the general case where the s substances are distributed among  $\pi$  coexisting phases. The conservation of mass in the system as a whole requires that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\pi} \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{c} n_{j}^{(k)} M_{j} + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} n_{i}^{(k)} M_{i} \right\} = \sum_{j=1}^{c} q_{j}^{(k)} M_{j}, \qquad (3.16)$$

where  $n_i^{(k)}$  and  $n_j^{(k)}$  are the number of moles in the k-th phase of the i-th and j-th substances, respectively, and  $M_i$  and  $M_j$  are the corresponding weights of 1 mole. As mass is conserved by each of reactions (3.11), one may substitute

- 7 -

$$M_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{c} v_{ij} M_{j}$$
(3.17)

into equation (3.16). On equating the coefficients of M<sub>i</sub>, there are obtained

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\pi} \left\{ n_{j}(k) + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} v_{ij} n_{i}(k) \right\} = q_{j}, \qquad (3.18)$$

 $j = 1, 2, \ldots c.$ 

The derivation by means of the method employed by Gibbs,  $\frac{4}{2}$  subject to the constraints of equations (3.18), of the conditions for equilibrium is straightforward, and it is unnecessary to reproduce it here. The usual conditions for thermal and mechanical equilibrium are obtained, and the conditions for chemical equilibrium take the form,

$$\mu_{j}^{(k)} = \lambda_{j}, \qquad (3.19)$$

$$\mu_{i}(\mathbf{k}) = \sum_{j=1}^{c} \nu_{ij} \lambda_{j}, \qquad (3.20)$$

 $k = 1, 2, ..., \pi; j = 1, 2, ..., c; i = c + 1, c + 2, ..., s, where <math>\mu_i^{(k)}$  and  $\mu_j^{(k)}$  are the chemical potentials in the k-th phase of the i-th and j-th substances, respectively, the  $\lambda_j$  are constants that may be eliminated from equations (3.19) and (3.20), and where it has been assumed for simplicity that each substance of the system is included in every phase. If a particular component is excluded a priori from some phase, the corresponding member of equations (3.19) disappears as being without meaning, and similar considerations obtain if a particular dependent constituent is excluded a priori from some phase.

Together with equation (3.18), equations (3.19) and (3.20) provide, by reason of their symmetry, the simplest basis for calculating the concentrations at equilibrium of the several constituents of the system. In particular, if the substances are limited to a single phase, the equations become

$$n_j + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} v_{ij} n_i = q_j,$$
 (3.21)

$$\mu_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{C} \nu_{ij} \mu_{j} = 0, \qquad (3.22)$$

j = 1, 2, ..., c, i = c + 1, ..., s, for equilibrium at constant temperature and pressure. Equations (3.21) and (3.22) are also applicable to systems composed of a gas phase in equilibrium with a single pure solid phase, as in this case it is not necessary to retain explicitly the index label of the phase.

The chemical potential of the k-th constituent of a gas mixture can be expressed as  $\frac{2}{3}$ 

$$\mu_{k} = \mu_{k}^{o} (T) + RT \log P_{k}$$
 (3.23)

- 4/ Collected Works of J. Willard Gibbs: Longmans, Green & Co., New York and London, 1928, vol. 1, pp. 63-82.
- 5/ See, for example, Guggenheim, E. A., Modern Thermodynamics by the Methods of Willard Gibbs: Methuen & Co., Ltd., London, 1933, p. 72.

where  $p_k$  is the fugacity of the k-th constituent in the mixture and  $\mu_k^0$  (T), the chemical potential of the k-th constituent in the standard state of unit fugacity, is a function of the temperature, T, only. The chemical potential of a constituent, say the m-th, existing as a pure solid phase, can be written as a function of temperature only,

$$\mu_{\rm m} = \mu_{\rm m}^{\rm o}$$
 (T), (3.24)

for the range of pressures to be considered in this report. Equations (3.22) can be written

$$\log p_{i} - \sum_{j}^{\prime} \frac{\nu_{ij} \log p_{j}}{\log p_{j}} = \log K_{i}, \qquad (3.25)$$

where

RT log K<sub>i</sub> = 
$$\sum_{j=1}^{c} v_{ij} \mu_{j} \cdot \mu_{i}$$
 (3.26)

 $K_i$ , the thermodynamic equilibrium constant of the reaction (3.11) for the formation of the i-th dependent constituent from the components, is a function of the temperature only. Equations (3.25) are valid both for homogeneous gas mixtures and for heterogeneous systems composed of a gas mixture in equilibrium with a single pure solid phase, the summation being over gaseous components only.

#### Degrees of Freedom of Carbon, Hydrogen, Oxygen, Nitrogen Systems

The phase rule of Gibbs can be obtained directly from Equations (3.18), (3.19), and (3.20). It can be expressed in the form

$$f = c + 2 - \pi$$
,

where f is the number of degrees of freedom possessed by a system of c components and  $\pi$  phases that depends on two state variables.

The four-component system containing carbon, hydrogen, oxygen, and nitrogen consists of two regions. There is a region of low oxygen: carbon ratio in which the system is heterogeneous, consisting of a gas phase in equilibrium with solid carbon. If the oxygen: carbon ratio exceeds a critical value (which depends on the temperature, pressure, and composition), the system is homogeneous, consisting of a single gas phase.

- 9 -

<sup>6/</sup> Brinkley, S. R., Jr., Work cited in footnote 3.

According to the phase rule, the homogeneous portion of the four-component system possesses five degrees of freedom, and the heterogeneous portion four degrees of freedom. The state is uniquely determined by the specification of two state variables, for which purpose either the temperature and pressure or the temperature and volume are commonly selected. The thermodynamic requirements for the description of the homogeneous portion of the system are completed by the specification of three parameters defining its gross composition. The specification of only two parameters defining gross composition is necessary in the case of the heterogeneous portion of the system.

As equations (3.25) are independent of the amount of solid phase actually contained by the system, it is convenient to define the relative amounts of hydrogen, oxygen, and nitrogen available to the system. For this purpose, parameters D and E of equations (3.3) are appropriate, and the specification of D and E together with two state variables is sufficient thermodynamically for the complete description of the system. The number of gram atoms of carbon present in the gas phase of the system at equilibrium (as carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, methane, etc.) is easily computed after the equilibrium composition is known. If this quantity is denoted by  $Q_c^{\dagger}$ , we may calculate

$$B_1 = Q_H / (4Q_c' + Q_H).$$
 (3.27)

As  $Q_c^{\dagger}$  is a function of the composition at equilibrium, the ratio defined by equation (3.27) is an implicitly defined function of the state (say the temperature and pressure) and of the relative hydrogen, oxygen, and nitrogen compositions. This functional relationship is expressed by

$$B_1 = B_1 (D, E, p, T),$$
 (3.28)

where p is the pressure. Equation (3.28) defines a surface in the space with coordinates B, D, and E that may be termed the carbon boundary surface. This surface represents the limiting conditions under which a gas phase can exist in equilibrium with solid carbon.

If the relative gross composition of a particular mixture of the four elements is specified by values of the three quantities B, D, and E, as defined by equations (3.3), and if  $B < B_1$  for a given temperature and pressure, then the mixture at equilibrium consists of a gas phase whose composition is uniquely determined by the values of D and E in equilibrium with  $Q_c - Q'_c$  gram atoms of carbon, where

$$Q_{c} - Q_{c}' = \left(\frac{1-E}{E}\right) \left(\frac{B_{11} - B}{B_{1} B}\right) Q_{o}.$$
(3.29)

As the ratios D and E can be expressed as functions of A, B, and C by means of equations (3.4)

D = D (A, B, C),E = E (B, C),

- 10 -

it follows that the functional relation, equation (3.28), defining the carbon boundary surface, can be converted to the form,

$$B_1 = B_1 (A, C, p, T),$$
 (3.30)

and inverted to the form

$$C_1 = C_1 (A, B, p, T)$$
 (3.31)

by suitable numerical procedures. Here  $C_1$  is the critical value of C for the carbon boundary surface, the heterogeneous portion of the system corresponding to the region  $C < C_1$ . The representation, equation (3.28), is the natural one to employ for investigations within the heterogeneous portion of the system, and the representation, equation (3.31), is the more convenient one to employ for the description of the extent of the homogeneous region. We shall show in a later section that it is possible to determine the relation (3.31) by direct calculation for given values of A, B, p, and T, as an alternative procedure to the series of interpolations required to obtain the representation (3.31) from the representation (3.28).

If  $C \ge C_1$  (A, B, p, T), the system consists of an homogeneous gas phase with five degrees of freedom. The complete description of the system therefore requires the specification of two state variables and three parameters describing the gross composition of the system, the set A, B, C of equations (3.2) being a particularly convenient set for the consideration of combustion gases.

#### IV. CALCULATION OF THE EQUILIBRIUM COMPOSITION

The composition of a system at chemical equilibrium is easily calculated where there is only a single reaction (one dependent constituent) to be considered. In this case, the concentration of each constituent can be related to a single variable, "the degree of reaction," and the solution of the mass action equation is straightforward. Difficulties are encountered if this method is extended to a consideration of two simultaneous equilibria; and when the number of such simultaneous equilibria becomes large, the ordinary methods become very laborious. In a recent publication,  $\frac{7}{}$  a systematic procedure for calculating the equilibrium composition of a system of many constituents was presented. This method presents a simple rule for formulating the work program of such calculations, with the result that very little time is required for setting up a particular problem. The systematic nature of the procedure makes the method well adapted to computation by modern automatic computational equipment. In the publication cited, the method was

7/ Brinkley, S. R., Jr., Calculation of the Equilibrium Composition of Systems of Many Constituents: Jour. Chem. Phys., vol. 15, 1947, pp. 107-110. developed for systems of a very general nature. In subsequent communications, 8,9,10/ application of the method was restricted to the calculation of the equilibrium composition of mixtures consisting of a single homogeneous gas phase or of a gas phase in equilibrium with a single pure solid phase, and it was assumed that the gas phase is adequately described by the ideal gas equation of state. By taking advantage of these restrictions, it was possible to formulate a computational method applicable to these particular cases, which is substantially simpler and more systematic than the more general method. In addition, it was possible to formulate a special method, applicable in restricted cases, that has the advantage of converging considerably more rapidly than the more systematic general method.

In order that the present discussion may be self contained, we repeat portions of the development of the basic equations that have been published elsewhere.

#### The General Method

The formal methods of the preceding section have resulted in a statement of the conditions for equilibrium in a form that is particularly well suited to serve as a basis for the computation of the equilibrium composition. We shall henceforth limit consideration to the cases of a homogeneous gaseous system or of a heterogeneous system composed of a gas mixture in equilibrium with a single, pure, solid phase.

The conservation of each element was shown to require that

$$n_j + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} v_{ij} n_i = q_j,$$
 (4.1)

 $j = 1, 2, \ldots c$ , where  $n_i$  and  $n_j$  are the number of moles of the i-th dependent constituent and j-th component, respectively, in the equilibrium mixture containing  $M_0$  grams of gas,  $q_j$  is the number of moles of the j-th component in the hypothetical mixture containing components only and where  $v_{ij}$  is the coefficient to the symbol of the j-th component in the equation for the formation of the i-th dependent constituent (involving only components as reactants). The constants  $q_i$  are normalized in accord with the relation,

$$\sum_{j=1,}^{\prime} q_{j} = 1, \qquad (4.2)$$

- 8/ Kandiner, H. J., and Brinkley, S. R., Jr., Calculation of Complex Equilibrium Relations: Ind. Eng. Chem., vol. 42, May 1950, pp. 850-855.
- 9/ Brinkley, S. R., Jr., and Smith, R. W., Jr., Calculation of the Equilibrium Composition of Systems of Many Constituents: Proc. Scientific Computation Forum 1948, International Business Machines Corp., New York, 1950, pp. 77-82.
- 10/ Brinkley, S. R., Jr., and Smith, R. W., Jr., Calculation of the Equilibrium Composition of Homogeneous Multicomponent Systems: Proc. Seminar on Scientific Computation 1949, International Business Machines Corp., New York, 1950, pp. 58-63.

where the operator  $\sum_{i=1}^{n}$  denotes a summation over gaseous components only, and this normal-

ization implies that the weight of the gas phase  $M_0$  is assigned the arbitrarily assumed value given by equation (3.15).

The conditions for chemical equilibrium, given in equations (3.25), can be put in the form,

$$K_{i} = p_{i}^{*} \pi_{j}^{'} (p_{j}^{*})^{-\nu} ij, \qquad (4.3)$$

 $i = c+1, \ldots s$ , where  $p_i^*$  and  $p_j^*$  are the fugacities of the i-th dependent constituent and j-th component, respectively,  $K_i$  is the thermodynamic equilibrium constant, a function of the temperature only that is defined by equation (3.26), of the reaction for the formation of the i-th dependent constituent, and where the operator  $\pi_j^{'}$  denotes that the repeated product is to be taken over gaseous components only. The equilibrium constant  $K_i$  is most easily obtained by the relation,

$$K_{i} = Kf_{i} \frac{c}{j=1}^{n} (Kf_{j})^{-\nu} ij,$$
 (4.4)

where  $Kt_i$  and  $Kf_j$  are the equilibrium constants for the formation of the i-th dependent constituent and j-th component, respectively, from the elements.

For each gaseous component we employ equations (4.1) in the form

$$x_{j} + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} v_{ij} x_{i} = q_{j}/n,$$
 (4.5)

where  $x_i$  and  $x_j$  are the mole fractions in the equilibrium mixture of the i-th dependent constituent and the j-th gaseous component, respectively, and n is the total number of moles of gas in the equilibrium mixture corresponding to the normalized constants  $q_i$ . In view of equation (4.2)

 $\sum_{j}' x_{j} + \sum_{i=c+1}^{8} v_{i} x_{i} = 1/n, \qquad (4.6)$ 

where

$$\sum_{j=1}^{j} x_{j} + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} x_{i} = 1.$$

 $v_i = \sum_{i=1}^{r} v_{ij}$ 

Therefore, equation (4.6) becomes

$$1/n = 1 + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} (v_i - 1) x_i,$$

and equations (4.5) may be written

$$\mathbf{x}_{j} = \mathbf{q}_{j} - \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} \left[ \nu_{ij} - \mathbf{q}_{j} (\nu_{i} - 1) \right] \mathbf{x}_{i}, \qquad (4.7)$$

there being a member of the set (4.7) for each gaseous component.

If an activity coefficient  $f_k$  of the k-th gaseous constituent is defined by the relations

$$p_{k}^{*} = x_{k} f_{k} p,$$
(4.8)
Lim (p->0)  $f_{k} = 1,$ 

equations (4.3) can be written in the form

$$\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{i}} = \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{i}} \pi_{\mathbf{j}}^{\prime} \mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{j}}^{\nu} \mathbf{i}^{\mathbf{j}}$$
(4.9)

 $i = c + 1, \ldots s$ , where the k<sub>i</sub> are functions of temperature and pressure given by

$$k_{i} = K_{iP}^{\nu_{i}-1} \Gamma_{i},$$

$$\Gamma_{i} = f_{i}^{-1} \pi_{j}^{\prime} f_{j}^{\nu_{i}i},$$
(4.10)

in which the  $\Gamma_i$  are in general functions of the temperature and pressure. In this section we shall assume that the gas mixture is ideal and therefore that  $\Gamma_i = 1$  for every i. In a later section we shall consider the evaluation of the  $\Gamma_i$  for imperfect gas mixtures.

The computation of the equilibrium composition requires the simultaneous solution of equations (4.7) and (4.9. If  $x_i \ll x_j$  for all i and j, the solution may be carried out by a simple iteration method.  $\underline{11}$  An approximate set of values is chosen for the  $x_j$ . (In the absence of any criteria for the choice of the initial set, one may take  $x_j = q_j$ .) Equations (4.9) are employed in the computation of corresponding values of the  $x_i$ . These, in turn, are employed with equations (4.7) for the determination of an improved set of values for the  $x_j$ . This iterative process is continued until the difference between successive approximations to the  $x_j$  is less than the desired precision of the computation.

<sup>11/</sup> Scarborough, J. B., Numerical Mathematical Analysis: Johns Hopkins Press, Baltimore, Md., 1930, pp. 191-195.

The convergence of this simple iteration method is very slow for larger relative values of the  $x_i$ , and when the  $x_i$  and  $x_j$  are of the same order of magnitude, this method may not converge at all for any choice of components. A more powerful computational procedure is provided by the Newton-Raphson method.<sup>12/</sup> Equations (4.7) may be written in the form

$$F_{j} = 0$$
 (4.11)

for each gaseous component, where

$$F_{j} = q_{j} G \cdot x_{j} - \sum_{i=c+1}^{S} v_{ij} x_{i},$$
  
$$G = 1 + \sum_{i=c+1}^{S} (v_{i} - 1) x_{i}.$$

We seek the solution of equations (4.11) subject to equations (4.9). If the functions  $F_i$  are expanded in Taylor series about an approximate set of values of the variables  $x_j$  with neglect of terms involving derivatives of second and higher orders, there results a set of linear equations that can be compactly represented in the notation of matrices by

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{A}_{jj}^{(\mathbf{r})} \\ \mathbf{h}_{j}^{(\mathbf{r})} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{F}_{j}^{(\mathbf{r})} \\ \mathbf{F}_{j}^{(\mathbf{r})} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.12)

where the r-th and (r + 1)-th approximations to the composition are related by

$$x_{j}^{(r+1)} = x_{j}^{(r)} (1 + h_{j}^{(r)}),$$
 (4.13)

and where the elements of the matrix are given by

$$A_{jj} = U_{jj} + q_j V_j$$
 (4.14)

where

$$U_{jj} = x_{j} \delta_{jj} + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} v_{ij} v_{ij} x_{i},$$
$$V_{j} = \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} v_{ij} (v_{i} - 1) x_{i},$$

and where  $U_{jj} = U_{jj}$ . The superscript r indicates that the designated quantity is to be evaluated with the r-th approximation to the composition of the system, and  $\delta_{ij}$  is the Kronecker delta.

12/ Scarborough, J. B., Work cited in tootnote 11, pp. 178 and 187.

- 15 -

Criteria for the choice of components that results in the most rapid convergence of the iteration process can be developed from the remainders to the two-term Taylor series expansions of functions  $F_j$ . However, the resulting expressions are too cumbersome for practical utility, and in practice the convergence will be found to be satisfactory if the components are selected so as to minimize the quantities  $k_i$ ,  $i = c + 1, \ldots, s$ .

### A Special Method

An alternative computational procedure is very useful in certain special cases. We employ equations (4.1),

$$n_j + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} v_{ij} n_i = q_j,$$
 (4.1)

and write equations (4.9) in the form

$$n_{i} = k_{i} (n) \pi_{j} n_{j}^{\vee ij},$$

$$(4.15)$$

$$k_{i} (n) = k_{i} n^{1} - {}^{\vee i},$$

 $i = c + 1, \ldots s$ , by means of the substitution  $n_k = x_k n$ . In view of equations (4.1) and (4.2), the total number of moles of gas n is given by

$$n = 1 + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} (1 - v_i) n_i.$$
 (4.16)

We define a variable  $\mu$  by

$$\mu = \pi \frac{1}{j} n_j n_j, \qquad (4.17)$$

and rewrite equations (4, 15) in the form

$$n_{i} = k_{i} (n) \mu^{\varepsilon_{i}} \pi_{j} n_{j}^{\sigma_{ij}}, \qquad (4.18)$$

$$\sigma_{ij} = v_{ij} - \varepsilon_{i} \eta_{j},$$

 $i = c+1, \ldots s$ . We endeavor to choose the  $n_j$ , so that for each i there exists only a single value of j, say j', for which  $\sigma_{ij}$  does not vanish, and so that for some value of j, say j\*,  $\sigma_{ij}$ \* vanishes for every value of i. If this can be done, equations (4.18) reduce to expressions of the form

$$\mathbf{n}_{i} = \mathbf{k}_{i}'(\mathbf{n})\boldsymbol{\mu} \qquad \overset{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{i}}{\mathbf{n}_{j}}, \qquad (4.19)$$

 $i = c + 1, \ldots s, j' = j^*.$ 

Introduction of the variable  $\mu$  leads immediately to a separation of variables in the set of equations composed of equations (4.19) and those of equations (4.1), for which  $\neq j^*$  when mass action expressions of the form (4.19) can be obtained with

$$\mu = \mathbf{n}_{j*} \qquad (4.20)$$

Then  $v_{j*}$  is the lowest common divisor of those coefficients  $v_{ij*}$  that are nonzero and  $\sigma_{ij} = v_{ij}$  for  $j \neq j^*$ . By substitution of equations (4.19) into equations (4.1), we obtain

$$n_{j} + \sum_{i(j)} v_{ij} k_{i}^{\prime}(n) \mu {}^{\xi_{i}} n_{j} {}^{\nu_{ij}} - q_{j} = 0$$
 (4.21)

for  $j \neq j^*$ , which can, at least in principle, be solved for  $n_j$  by ordinary algebraic methods for given values of n and  $\mu$ . If equations (4.19) and (4.20) are then employed, a solution can be found in the form

$$n_{j} = n_{j} (n, \mu),$$
  
 $n_{i} = n_{i} (n, \mu),$ 

 $j = 1, 2, \ldots c; i = c + 1, \ldots s.$ 

The values of n and  $\mu$  leading to an exact solution of the equilibrium conditions must satisfy equation (4.16) and the member of equations (4.1) for which  $j = j^*$ . These can be written in the form

F (µ) = 0, F (n) = 0, (4.22) F (µ) = q<sub>j</sub>\* - n<sub>j</sub>\* -  $\sum_{i=c+1}^{s} v_{ij}* n_i$ , F (n) = n - 1 +  $\sum_{i=c+1}^{s} (v_i - 1) n_i$ .

If the functions F ( $\mu$ ) and F (n) are expanded in Taylor series about approximate values of n and  $\mu$  with neglect of terms involving second and higher derivatives, there result a pair of linear equations,

$$\begin{pmatrix} (r) & (r) \\ A_{11} & A_{12} \\ (r) & (r) \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{pmatrix}$$
 
$$\begin{pmatrix} (r) \\ h (\mu) \\ (r) \\ h (n) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} (r) \\ F (\mu) \\ (r) \\ F (n) \\ (r) \\ F (n) \\ (r) \end{pmatrix}$$
 
$$(4.23)$$

where the r-th and (r+1)-th approximation to  $\mu$  and n are related by

- 17 -

$$\mu^{(r+1)} = \mu^{(r)} [1 + h(\mu)^{(r)}], \qquad (4.24)$$

$$n^{(r+1)} = n^{(r)} [1 + h(n)^{(r)}],$$

25)

and where the coefficients are given by

$$A_{11} = n_{j} * L + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} v_{ij} * \xi_{i} n_{i} + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} v_{ij} * v_{ij(i)} U_{j(i)} n_{i},$$

$$A_{12} = \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} v_{ij*} (1 - v_i) n_i + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} v_{ij*} v_{ij(i)} V_{j(i)} n_i,$$

$$A_{21} = n_j^* M + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} (1 - v_i) \xi_{i} n_i + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} (1 - v_i) v_{ij(i)} U_{j(i)} r_i, \qquad (4)$$

$$A_{22} = -n + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} (1 - v_i)^2 n_i + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} (1 - v_i) v_{ij(i)} V_{j(i)} n_i,$$

 $L = 1/n_i, M = 0,$ 

where j(i) is the value of j, for which  $\sigma_{ij}$  does not vanish for a given i, and where

$$U_{j} = -\sum_{i(j)}^{j} v_{ij} \xi_{i} n_{i} \left[ n_{j} + \sum_{i(j)}^{j} (v_{ij})^{2} n_{i} \right]^{-1},$$

$$V_{j} = -\sum_{i(j)}^{j} v_{ij} (1 - v_{i}) n_{i} \left[ n_{j} + \sum_{i(j)}^{j} (v_{ij})^{2} n_{i} \right]^{-1}$$
(4.26)

The superscript r indicates that the designated quantity is to be evaluated with the r-th approximation to the composition of the system.

Introduction of the variable  $\mu$  also leads to a separation of variables in the set of equations composed of equations (4.19) and those of equations (4.1), for which  $j \neq j^*$  when mass action expressions of the form (4.19) can be obtained with

$$\mu = n_{j} \cdot \gamma_{j} n_{j*}, \qquad (4.27)$$

 $j' \neq j^*$ . Then  $\mathcal{E}_i = v_{ij^*}$ ,  $\sigma_{ij} = v_{ij}$  for  $j \neq j'$ ,  $j^*$ , and  $\sigma_{ij'} = v_{ij'} - v_{ij^*} \eta_{j'}$ . The stoichiometric conditions for  $j \neq j^*$  can then be put into a form analogous to equations (4.21)

$$n_{j} + \sum_{i(j)} \nu_{ij} k_{i}'(n) \mu^{\xi_{i}} n_{j} \nu_{ij} - q_{j} = 0, \ j \neq j',$$

$$n_{j}' - \eta_{j}' \mu_{n_{j}'} - \eta_{j'}' + \sum_{i(j')} \sigma_{ij'} k_{i}'(n) \mu^{\xi_{i}} n_{j} \sigma_{ij'} - q_{j'} + \eta_{j'} q_{j*} = 0,$$
(4.28)

which can, at least in principle, be solved for  $n_j$ ,  $j \neq j^*$ , by ordinary algebraic methods for given values of n and  $\mu$ . If equations (4.19) and (4.27) are then employed, a solution can be found in the form

$$n_{j} = n_{j} (n, \mu),$$
  
 $n_{i} = n_{i} (n, \mu),$ 

 $j = 1, 2, \ldots c; i = c + 1, \ldots s.$ 

The values of n and  $\mu$  leading to an exact solution of the equilibrium conditions must satisfy equations (4.22). The application of the Newton-Raphson method to obtain an improved pair of values of n and  $\mu$  requires the solution of equations (4.23) and the application of equations (4.24). The coefficients of equations (4.23) are given by equations (4.25) but with

$$L = 1 - \eta_{j} + U_{j} + \dots , M = -\eta_{j} + V_{j} + U_{j} + \dots , M = -\eta_{j} + V_{j} + \dots , M = -\eta_{j} + \eta_{j} + \dots , M = -\eta_{j} + \eta_{j} + \eta_{j} + \eta_{j} + \dots , M = -\eta_{j} + \eta_{j} + \eta_{j} + \eta_{j} + \dots , M = -\eta_{j} + \eta_{j} + \eta_{j} + \eta_{j} + \dots , M = -\eta_{j} + \eta_{j} + \eta_{j} + \eta_{j} + \eta_{j} + \eta_{j} + \dots , M = -\eta_{j} + \eta_{j} +$$

replacing equations (4.26).

The special method converges considerably more rapidly than the general method and can be advantageously employed for computations where it is applicable. It has the disadvantage, however, that the computation program for a single iteration is longer and less systematic than for the general method. The final results are easily expressed in terms of mole fractions by the application of the relation

- 19 -

$$\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{k}} = \mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{k}}/\mathbf{n}. \tag{4.30}$$

#### Modifications for Computation at a Specified Density

Many of the applications of thermodynamics to combustion processes are such that it is natural to specify the state by means of the variables temperature and pressure. The methods for the calculation of the equilibrium composition that have been described assume that the temperature and pressure have been explicitly specified, i.e., that the equation of state is of the form

$$p/\rho = nRT \phi(p,T)/M_o$$
,

where n is the number of moles of gas contained in  $M_0$  grams of gas,  $\rho$  is the density, and  $\phi$  (p,T) is explicit in the pressure and temperature and unity for the ideal gas.

In certain applications, as in those of internal ballistics, it is more natural to specify the state by means of the variables temperature and density (or volume). For these cases the equation of state may be assumed to be of the form

$$p/\rho = nRT \psi(\rho,T)/M_{o}$$

where  $\Psi(\rho,T)$  is explicit in the density and temperature and unity for the ideal gas. The methods for the calculation of the equilibrium composition at a specified density are analogous for those at a specified pressure, but they differ in certain details.

The conditions for equilibrium, equations (4.3), can be advantageously written in the form,

$$n_{i} = k_{i}^{\dagger} \pi_{j}^{\dagger} n_{j}^{\forall ij},$$
 (4.31)

 $i = c + 1, \ldots s$ , where the k i are functions of temperature and density given by

$$\mathbf{k}_{i}^{\dagger} = \mathbf{K}_{i} \left( \mathbf{R} \mathbf{T} \rho / \mathbf{M}_{o} \right)^{\nu_{i} - 1} \Gamma_{i}^{\dagger},$$

$$\Gamma_{i}^{\dagger} = \left[ \psi(\rho, \mathbf{T}) \right]^{\nu_{i} - 1} \mathbf{f}_{i}^{-1} \pi_{j}^{\dagger} \mathbf{f}_{j}^{\nu_{i} j},$$

$$(4.32)$$

in which the  $\Gamma_i^{'}$  are in general functions of the temperature and density and are unity for every i if the gas mixture is ideal. In a formal way, equations (4.31) and (4.32) can be obtained from the analogous expressions, equations (4.9) and (4.10), employed in the general method above by replacing  $x_i$  and  $x_j$  by  $n_i$  and  $n_j$ , respectively, and by replacing  $k_i$  by  $k'_i$ . We note that the  $k'_i$  of equations (4.15) and (4.31) are identical, although they are evaluated in different ways.

Equations (4.31) determine the concentrations of the dependent constituents for assumed values of the concentrations of the components. In order that these calculations lead to an exact calculation of the equilibrium composition, it is necessary that the results satisfy the stoichiometric conditions, equations (4.1), which we write in the form

$$F_{j}^{\dagger} = 0,$$
 (4.33)

where

$$F_{j}^{!} = q_{j} \cdot n_{j} \cdot \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} v_{ij} n_{i}.$$

In a formal way, equations (4.33) can be obtained from the analogous expressions, equations (4.11) by replacing  $x_i$  and  $x_i$  by  $n_i$  and  $n_i$ , respectively, and by setting G = 1.

The application of the Newton-Raphson method to the improvement of an approximate set of values of the concentrations of the components requires the solution of equations analogous to equations (4.12),

$$\begin{bmatrix} A_{jj}^{\dagger} \\ h_{jj}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} h_{j}^{\dagger} \\ h_{j}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} F_{j}^{\dagger} \\ F_{j} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (4.34)$$

where the r-th and the (r+1)-th approximations to the composition are related by

$$n_j^{(r+1)} = n_j^{(r)} (1 + h^{\dagger(r)}),$$
 (4.35)

and where the elements of the matrix are given by

$$A'_{jj'} = n_j \delta_{jj'} + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} v_{ij} v_{ij'} n_i.$$
(4.36)

In a formal way, equations (4.34), (4.35), and (4.36) can be obtained from the analogous expressions, equations (4.12), (4.13), and (4.14), respectively, by replacing  $x_i$  and  $x_j$  by  $n_i$  and  $n_j$ , respectively, and by setting  $V_i = 0$  for all j.

It is evident that the general method for computations at specified density is similar in outline with the previously described general method for computations at specified pressure, and that a particular computational program for the former case can easily be derived in a formal way from the equivalent program for the latter case. The total number of moles n contained in  $M_0$ grams of gas mixture can be calculated with equation (4.16).

The alternative computational method, which we have called the special method, is easily applied without substantial modification to calculations at specified density. We again employ the stoichiometric conditions as expressed by equations (4.1) and the equilibrium conditions as expressed by equations (4.15). The constants  $k'_i$  appearing in the equilibrium conditions are to be calculated by equations (4.32), and for specified temperature and density they are independent of the total number of moles n. Consequently, it is possible to seek a solution of the form

$$n_j = n_j(\mu)$$
  
 $n_i = n_i(\mu)$ 

j = 1, 2, ..., c; i = c+1, ..., s, for those cases where the introduction of a variable u results in a separation of variables.

- 21 -

The value of  $\mu$  leading to an exact solution of the equilibrium conditions must satisfy the condition,

$$F(\mu) = 0$$
 (4.37)

where  $F(\mu)$  is defined by equations (4.22). The application of the Newton-Raphson method to obtain an improved value of  $\mu$  requires the application of the relation

$$\mu^{(r+1)} = \mu^{(r)} \left[ 1 + h(\mu)^{(r)} \right]$$
(4.38)

where

and where  $A_{11}$  has been defined as one of equations (4.25). Equations (4.37), (4.38), and (4.39) are obtained from the analogous expressions, equations (4.23), (4.24), and (4.25), respectively, by retaining only those terms of significance in the latter equations after setting F(n) = O, h(n) = O.

#### Calculation of the Equilibrium Composition of Imperfect Gas Mixtures

In the previous discussion it has been assumed that the gas mixture can be described adequately by the ideal gas equation of state. At the temperatures of interest in the consideration of combustion gases this assumption is adequate for most purposes. However, for combustion processes occurring at high pressures, as in closed bombs or in gun barrels, the ideal gas equation of state is no longer adequate, and it is necessary to consider the effects of gas imperfection on the calculation of the equilibrium composition. In the present section, we indicate the modifications to the previously described computation methods that are necessary to take account of gas imperfections, and we assemble the relations required for this purpose. A comprehensive discussion of the evaluation of the thermodynamic properties of mixtures of real gases, with derivations of the necessary relations, has been given by Beattie. 13/

For calculations that are carried out at a specified pressure, the mass action constant  $k_i$  is related to the thermodynamic equilibrium constant  $K_i$  by equation (4.10),

 $\mathbf{k}_i = \mathbf{K}_i \mathbf{p}^{\nu_i - 1} \Gamma_i$ 

where

4351

 $\Gamma_{i} = f_{i}^{-1} \pi_{j} f_{j}^{\nu} i_{j} , \qquad (4.40)$ 

and where the activity coefficient of the k-th constituent is the ratio of the fugacity to the partial pressure of the k-th constituent in the gas mixture

$$f_k = p_k^* / x_k p_i$$

13/ Beattie, J. A., The Computation of the Thermodynamic Properties of Real Gases and Mixtures of Real Gases: Chem. Rev., vol. 44, February 1949, pp. 141-192. tending to the unity as the pressure tends to zero. In the general case of the non-ideal gas, the  $\Gamma_i$  are functions of temperature, pressure, and composition.

If the equation of state is explicit in the pressure and of the form

$$\frac{\mathbf{p}}{\rho} = \frac{\mathbf{n}\mathbf{R}\mathbf{T}}{\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{o}}} \ \varphi(\mathbf{p},\mathbf{T}), \tag{4.41}$$

where  $\Phi(p,T)$  is generally a function of the composition as well as of the temperature and pressure, the activity coefficient of the k-th constituent of the gas mixture is given by

$$\log f_{k} = \int_{0}^{P} \left[ \varphi - 1 + n \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial n_{k}} \right] \frac{dp}{P}.$$
(4.42)

This expression can be evaluated explicitly for a particular equation of state and employed to determine the activity coefficients of the constituents of the mixture as functions of temperature, pressure, and, in general, composition. Equation (4.40) can then be employed to evaluate the functions  $\Gamma_i$  that determine the effect of gas imperfection on the mass action constants k<sub>i</sub>.

If the activity coefficients are functions of the composition of the system, the  $\Gamma_i$  must be evaluated with each successive approximation to the composition. The  $\Gamma_i$  are relatively insensitive to the composition, and, consequently, it is unnecessary to modify the computation procedure by means of which a particular approximation to the composition is determined by the one preceding it.

Lewis and Randall  $\frac{14}{}$  have proposed as a basis for an approximate thermodynamic treatment of imperfect gas mixtures the rule

$$P_k^* = x_k P_k^*(p),$$
 (4.43)

where  $P_k^*$  (p) is the fugacity of k-th constituent as a pure gas at the temperature and total pressure of the mixture. If the k-th constituent obeys the gas law

$$\mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{V}} = \mathbf{n}_{\mathbf{k}} \mathbf{R} \mathbf{T} \ \varphi_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{T}), \tag{4.44}$$

where  $\Phi_k$  is a function of pressure and temperature only and V is the volume occupied by  $n_k$  moles at temperature T and pressure p, the Lewis and Randall rule results in the expression

$$\log f_{\mathbf{k}} = \int_{0}^{P} \left[ \varphi_{\mathbf{k}} - 1 \right] \frac{\mathrm{d} \mathbf{p}}{\mathbf{p}}, \qquad (4.45)$$

for the activity coefficient of the k-th constituent. Where applicable, equation (4.45) is more convenient than the exact form, equation (4.42), as it is independent of the composition of the mixture. The range of validity of the approximate expression for a particular application may be determined by comparison between results obtained from equations (4.42) and (4.45) with an explicit form of the equation of state.

14/ Lewis, G. N., and Randall, M., Thermodynamics: McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., New York, 1923, pp. 225-227.

For calculations at a specified density, the equation of state may be assumed to be of the form

$$\frac{P}{\rho} = \frac{nRT}{M_0} \quad \psi(\rho, T), \tag{4.46}$$

where  $\Psi(\rho,T)$  is generally a function of composition as well as of temperature and density. The mass action constants  $k_i^T$  for this case have been related to the corresponding thermodynamic equilibrium constants by the expressions

 $k'_{i} = K_{i} \frac{RT\rho}{M_{o}} \frac{\nu_{i} \cdot l}{\Gamma'_{i}},$ 

with

$$\Gamma_{i}' = \left[\psi(\rho, T)\right]^{\nu_{i}-1} f_{i}^{-1} \pi_{j}' f_{j}^{\nu_{i}j} = g_{i}^{-1} \pi_{j}' g_{j}^{\nu_{i}j}$$
(4.47)

where we have introduced an alternative activity coefficient,

$$\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{k}} = \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{k}} \quad \boldsymbol{\psi} \left(\boldsymbol{\rho}, \mathbf{T}\right). \tag{4.48}$$

The activity coefficient  $g_k$  of the k-th constituent of the mixture is given by the general thermodynamic relation

$$\log g_{k} = \int_{0}^{\rho} \left[ \psi \cdot 1 + n \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial n_{k}} \right] \frac{d \rho}{\rho}.$$
 (4.49)

This expression can be evaluated explicitly for a particular equation of state and employed to determine the activity coefficients of the constituents of the mixture as functions of temperature, density, and, in general, composition. Equations (4.47) can then be employed to evaluate the functions  $\Gamma_i^{\dagger}$  that determine the effect of gas imperfection on the mass action constants  $k_i^{\dagger}$ .

If the activity coefficients are functions of the composition of the system, the  $\Gamma_i^{\dagger}$  must be evaluated with each successive approximation to the composition. The  $\Gamma_i^{\dagger}$  are relatively insensitive to the composition, and it is unnecessary to modify the computation procedure by means of which a particular approximation to the composition is determined by the one preceding it.

As a basis for the approximate thermodynamic treatment of gas mixtures,  $Gibbs\frac{15}{}$  has proposed that the pressure of a mixture of gases be assumed to be equal to the sum of the pressures of the different gases as existing each by itself at the same temperature and with the same value of its chemical potential. If the k-th constituent obeys the gas law

$$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{k}} = \mathbf{R}\mathbf{T} \quad \Psi_{\mathbf{k}} (\mathbf{T}, \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{k}}), \tag{4.50}$$

where  $v_k$  is the molar volume of the k-th constituent, then the assumption of Gibbs has been shown by Beattie  $\frac{16}{10}$  to lead to the approximate relation

15/ Gibbs, J. W., Collected Works: Longmans, Green & Co., New York, 1906, vol. I, pp. 155-158. 16/ Beattie, J. A., Work cited in footnote 13.

- 24 -

$$\log g_{\mathbf{k}} = \int_{\mathbf{0}}^{\rho} \left[ \psi_{\mathbf{k}} - 1 + n_{\mathbf{k}} \frac{\partial \psi_{\mathbf{k}}}{\partial n_{\mathbf{k}}} \right] \frac{d\rho}{\rho}$$
(4.51)

for the activity coefficient of the k-th constituent. This expression is not in general independent of the composition of the mixture. It may, however, lead to simpler expressions than those derived from the general relation, equation (4.49). The range of validity of the approximate expression for a particular application may be determined by comparison between results obtained from equations (4.49) and (4.51) with an explicit form of the equation of state.

## V. COMPUTATION PROGRAMS FOR CARBON-HYDROGEN-OXYGEN-NITROGEN SYSTEMS

A large number of the fuel-oxidant systems of scientific and technical interest yield on combustion a mixture of products composed of compounds of carbon, hydrogen, oxygen, and nitrogen. Because of the importance of such systems, we give explicitly in this section the relations obtained by the application of the general methods of the preceding section. These computational programs will also serve to illustrate the application of the general methods to the calculation of the equilibrium composition of particular systems.

The computation programs will be written for calculations at specified pressure. We do not present explicitly the relations for calculations at specified density. We have observed in a preceding section that the relations for the latter case are easily obtained from those for the former case in a formal way by simple and systematic substitutions that have been given explicitly.

The rapidity with which a particular computational program converges is largely determined by the abundance in the mixture of those constituents chosen as components relative to the abundance in the mixture of the remaining derived constituents. The equilibrium composition of carbon, hydrogen, oxygen, nitrogen systems varies greatly if considerable variation of the gross composition parameters and of the temperature and pressure are to be considered. Consequently, the program that is suitable for a given set of conditions of state and composition may converge very slowly or even diverge if applied to another region of different characteristics. For the efficient consideration of all possible gross compositions over considerable ranges of temperature and pressure a number of different programs, corresponding to different choices of the components, will be required. Each of these programs will be most appropriately employed for particular regions of the complete set of systems. It is unnecessary to specify closely the region of applicability of a particular program, since there is considerable overlap with the regions appropriate for alternative programs. It will be noted that the procedure for setting up a particular program is routine, once the constituents to be considered have been specified and a choice of components has been made.

It will generally be assumed that the equilibrium composition of the combustion products of fuel-oxidant systems, composed only of compounds of carbon, hydrogen, oxygen, and nitrogen, can be adequately represented by a consideration of the constituents:  $C_{(solid)}$ , CO, CO<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>,

- 25 -

 $H_2O$ ,  $N_2$ ,  $O_2$ , O, OH, H, NO, N, NH<sub>3</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>. Solid carbon will be assumed to be in the form of graphite. If the oxidant is air, argon will be introduced as an additional constituent. Argon will necessarily be chosen as an additional component, and, as it is inert, it does not affect in any important way the computational programs. We assume that the ideal gas law provides an adequate equation of state. In the previous section, the modifications necessary to take account of gas imperfections have been described.

#### The General Method for Lean Mixtures

Fuel-oxidant mixtures containing an excess of oxygen over the amount required for stoichiometric conversion of the carbon to carbon dioxide and the hydrogen to steam are called lean mixtures and are characterized by C > 1/2, where C is the composition parameter defined by equation (3.3). The predominant constituents of the combustion products satisfying the condition of independence required for their choice as components are

$$CO_2$$
,  $H_2O$ ,  $O_2$ ,  $N_2$ ,

except at very high temperatures. A more convenient set of components for mixtures at such temperatures (ca.  $4000^{\circ}$  K.) is described in a later section. If the oxidant is air, a fifth component, argon, must be considered.

The solution of equations (3.13) and (3.14) for this choice of components results in the equations

$$q (CO_2) = \frac{4 (C/O)}{2 + (H/O) + 2 (N/O) + 4 (A/O)},$$

$$q (H_2O) = \frac{2 (H/O)}{2 + (H/O) + 2 (N/O) + 4 (A/O)},$$

$$q (O_2) = \frac{2 - 4 (C/O) - (H/O)}{2 + (H/O) + 2 (N/O) + 4 (A/O)},$$

$$q (N_2) = \frac{2 (N/O)}{2 + (H/O) + 2 (N/O) + 4 (A/O)},$$

$$q (A) = \frac{4 (A/O)}{2 + (H/O) + 2 (N/O) + 4 (A/O)},$$
(5.1)

relating the normalized stoichiometric constants to the atomic ratios. These relations can be employed together with equations (3.6) or (3.7) to evaluate the stoichiometric constants for assigned values of the parameters descriptive of the gross composition of the system. If the oxidant is not air, (A/O) = O, q(A) = O, and we obtain

$$q(CO_2) = \frac{(1-A)(1-B)(1-C)}{(1-C)(2A + B - AB) + C(1-A)'}$$

$$q(H_2O) = \frac{2B(1-A)(1-C)}{(1-C)(2A + B - AB) + C(1-A)'}$$

$$q(O_2) = \frac{(1-A)(2C-1)}{(1-C)(2A + B - AB) + C(1-A)'}$$

$$2A(1-C)$$

$$q(N_2) = \frac{1}{(1-C)(2A + B - AB) + C(1-A)},$$

by substitution of equations (3.5) into equations (5.1).

In lean mixtures, we assume that methane and ammonia are absent from the equilibrium mixture, an assumption that is confirmed by test calculations for the temperatures of interest in combustion research. The chemical reactions in the form of equations (3.11) for the formation of the dependent constituents from the components are

$$CO_{2} - (1/2)O_{2} = CO,$$

$$H_{2}O - (1/2)O_{2} = H_{2},$$

$$(1/2)O_{2} = O,$$

$$(1/2)H_{2}O + (1/4)O_{2} = OH$$

$$(1/2)H_{2}O - (1/4)O_{2} = H,$$

$$(1/2)N_{2} + (1/2)O_{2} = NO,$$

$$(1/2)N_{2} = N,$$

in which the symbols of all of the components are written on the left-hand side of the equations. The coefficients  $v_{ij}$  of these equations can be summarized in matrix form,

	co <sub>2</sub>	H <sub>2</sub> O	0 <sub>2</sub>	N <sub>2</sub>	А
		<u> </u>			
$(v_{ij}) = co$	1	0	- 1/ 2	0	0
H <sub>2</sub>	0	1	- 1/2	0	0
0	0	0	1/2	0	0
ОН	0	1/2	1/4	0	0
н	0	1/2	-1/4	0	0
NO	0	0	0	1/2	0
N	0	0	<b>0</b>	1/2	0
1		- 27	· _ ·		

(5.3)

(5.2)

The constants  $k_i$  of the mass action expressions, equations (4.9), are given for stated values of the temperature and pressure by

$$k(CO) = p^{-1/2}K(CO), k(H) = p^{-3/4}K(H), \\ k(H_2) = p^{-1/2}K(H_2), k(NO) = K(NO), \\ k(O) = p^{-1/2}K(O), k(N) = p^{-1/2}K(N), \\ k(OH) = p^{-1/4}K(OH), (5.4)$$

where the thermodynamic equilibrium constants can be calculated from the equilibrium constants of formation by means of the relations

$$K(CQ) = Kf(CO)/Kf(CO_{2}), K(H) = Kf(H)/[Kf(H_{2}O)]^{1/2}, K(H_{2}) = 1/Kf(H_{2}O), K(NO) = Kf(NO), (5.5) K(O) = Kf(O), K(N) = Kf(N), (5.5) K(OH) = Kf(OH)/[Kf(H_{2}O)]^{1/2}.$$

In writing down equations (5.5), we have taken account of the fact that the equilibrium constant of formation of an element is unity.

The mole fractions of the dependent constituents are determined, for assumed values of the mole fractions of the components, by equations (4.9) in the form

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{x}(CO) &= \mathbf{k}(CO)\mathbf{x}(CO_2) / [\mathbf{x}(O_2)]^{1/2}, \\ \mathbf{x}(H_2) &= \mathbf{k}(H_2)\mathbf{x}(H_2O) / [\mathbf{x}(O_2)]^{1/2}, \\ \mathbf{x}(O) &= \mathbf{k}(O) [\mathbf{x}(O_2)]^{1/2}, \\ \mathbf{x}(OH) &= \mathbf{k}(OH) [\mathbf{x}(H_2O)]^{1/2} [\mathbf{x}(O_2)]^{1/4}, \\ \mathbf{x}(H) &= \mathbf{k}(H) [\mathbf{x}(H_2O)]^{1/2} [\mathbf{x}(O_2)]^{1/4}, \\ \mathbf{x}(NO) &= \mathbf{k}(NO) [\mathbf{x}(O_2)]^{1/2} [\mathbf{x}(N_2)]^{1/2}, \\ \mathbf{x}(N) &= \mathbf{k}(N) [\mathbf{x}(N_2)]^{1/2}. \end{aligned}$$
(5.6)

The values of the mole fractions of the components leading to an exact calculation of the equilibrium composition satisfy the conditions

$$F(CO_2) = O, F(H_2O) = O, F(O_2) = O, F(N_2) = O,$$

where the functions, defined by equations (4.11), are given by

- 28 -

$$F(CO_{2}) = Gq(CO_{2}) - x(CO_{2}) - x(CO),$$

$$F(H_{2}O) = Gq(H_{2}O) - x(H_{2}O) - x(H_{2}) - x(OH)/2 - x(H)/2,$$

$$F(O_{2}) = Gq(O_{2}) - x(O_{2}) + x(CO)/2 + x(H_{2})/2 - x(O)/2$$
(5.7)
$$x(OH)/4 + x(H)/4 - x(NO)/2,$$

$$F(N_{2}) = Gq(N_{2}) - x(N_{2}) - x(N_{2})/2 - x(N)/2,$$

and where

$$G = 1 - x(CO)/2 - x(H_2)/2 - x(O)/2 - x(OH)/4 - 3x(H)/4 - x(N)/2.$$
(5.8)

The application of the Newton-Raphson method to the improvement of an approximate set of values of the mole fractions of the components requires the solution of equations (4.12) in the form

A <sub>11</sub>	A <sub>12</sub>	A <sub>13</sub>	A14	h(CO <sub>2</sub> )	=	$F(CO_2)$	
A <sub>21</sub>	A <sub>22</sub>	A <sub>23</sub>	A <sub>24</sub>	h(H <sub>2</sub> O)		F(H <sub>2</sub> O)	(5.0)
A <sub>31</sub>	A <sub>32</sub>	A33	A <sub>34</sub>	h(O <sub>2</sub> )		F(O <sub>2</sub> )	(3.9)
A <sub>41</sub>	A <sub>42</sub>	A <sub>43</sub>	A44	h(N <sub>2</sub> )		F(N <sub>2</sub> )	

where  $h(CO_2)$ ,  $h(H_2O)$ ,  $h(O_2)$ , and  $h(N_2)$  are estimates of the fractional errors of a particular approximation to the mole fractions of the respective components, to be employed as indicated by equations (4.13) in obtaining the next approximation, and where the coefficients, defined by equations (4.14), are given by

$$A_{11} = U_{11} - V_{1q}(CO_2),$$
 $A_{31} = U_{13} - V_{1q}(O_2),$  $A_{12} = U_{12} - V_{2q}(CO_2),$  $A_{32} = U_{23} - V_{2q}(O_2),$  $A_{13} = U_{13} - V_{3q}(CO_2),$  $A_{33} = U_{33} - V_{3q}(O_2),$  $A_{14} = U_{14} - V_{4q}(CO_2),$  $A_{34} = U_{34} - V_{4q}(O_2),$  $A_{21} = U_{12} - V_{1q}(H_2O),$  $A_{41} = U_{14} - V_{1q}(N_2),$  $A_{22} = U_{22} - V_{2q}(H_2O),$  $A_{43} = U_{34} - V_{3q}(N_2),$  $A_{24} = U_{24} - V_{4q}(H_2O),$  $A_{44} = U_{44} - V_{4q}(N_2),$ 

- 29 -

wi th

$$U_{11} = x(CO_2) + x(CO), \qquad U_{12} = 0, \qquad U_{13} = -x(CO)/2,$$
  

$$U_{14} = 0, \quad U_{22} = x(H_2O) + x(H_2) + x(OH)/4 + x(H)/4,$$
  

$$U_{23} = x(H_2)/2 + x(OH)/8 - x(H)/8, \quad 7 \quad U_{24} = 0,$$
  

$$U_{33} = x(O_2) + x(CO)/4 + x(H_2)/4 + x(O)/4 + x(OH)/16 + x(H)/16 + x(NO)/4$$
  

$$U_{34} = x(NO)/4, \quad U_{44} = x(N_2) + x(NO)/4 + x(N)/4,$$

and

$$V_1 = -x(CO)/2, V_2 = -x(H_2)/2 - x(OH)/8 - 3x(H)/8,$$
  

$$V_3 = x(CO)/4 + x(H_2)/4 - x(O)/4 - x(OH)/16 + 3x(H)/16, V_4 = -x(N)/4.$$

If the oxidant is air, the value of the mole fraction of argon in the equilibrium mixture can be calculated from

$$x(A) = Gq(A).$$
 (5.10)

The total number of moles n contained in  $M_0$  grams of mixture is equal to  $G^{-1}$ , where

$$M_0 = 44.010 q(CO_2) + 18.016 q(H_2O) + 32.000 q(O_2) + 28.016 q(N_2) + 39.944 q(A),$$

and where the quantity G is defined by equation (5.8).

#### A Special Method for Lean Mixtures

The special method of computation can profitably be employed in calculations for conditions such that the convergence of the general method is inconveniently slow. This will be the case for mixtures near the stoichiometric point C = 1/2 and for mixtures at temperatures such that dissociation of the components into atomic species is important. Although the special method converges more rapidly than the general method, each iteration of the special method involves a considerably longer and less systematic computational routine than is required by the general method.

We take the variable  $\mu$ , defined by equation (4.17), to be

$$\mu = [n(O_2)]^{1/2}$$
(5.11)

and employ equation (5.11) to eliminate  $n(O_2)$  from the set of equations describing the equilibrium conditions. The stoichiometric conditions, equations (4.1), on the components  $CO_2$ ,  $H_2O$ , and  $N_2$  are given by

$$n(CO_{2}) + n(CO) = q(CO_{2}),$$
  

$$n(H_{2}O) + n(H_{2}) + n(OH)/2 + n(H)/2 = q(H_{2}O),$$
 (5.12)  

$$n(N_{2}) + n(NO)/2 + n(N)/2 = q(N_{2}).$$

The mass action expressions, equations (4.19), can be written explicitly

$$n(CO) = k'(CO)x/\mu, \qquad n(H) = k'(H)y/\mu^{1/2},$$
  

$$n(H_2) = k'(H_2)y^2/\mu, \qquad n(NO) = k'(NO)z\mu,$$
  

$$n(O) = k'(O)\mu, \qquad n(N) = k'(N)z,$$
  

$$n(OH) = k'(OH)y\mu^{1/2}.$$
  
(5.13)

where

$$k'(CO) = n^{1/2} k(CO), \qquad k'(H) = n^{3/4} k(H),$$
  

$$k'(H_2) = n^{1/2} k(H_2), \qquad k'(NO) = k(NO), \qquad (5.14)$$
  

$$k'(O) = n^{1/2} k(O), \qquad k'(N) = n^{1/2} k(N),$$
  

$$k'(OH) = n^{1/4} k(OH),$$

and where we have employed the abbreviations

$$x = n(CO_2), y^2 = n(H_2O), z^2 = n(H_2).$$
 (5.15)

Substituting equations (5.13) into equations (5.14), we obtain

$$x [1 + k'(CO)/\mu] - q(CO_2) = 0,$$
  

$$y^2 [1 + k'(H_2)/\mu] + y [k'(OH)\mu^{1/2} + k'(H)/\mu^{1/2}]/2 - q(H_2O) = 0,$$
  

$$z^2 + z [k'(NO)\mu + k'(N)]/2 - q(N_2) = 0,$$

with the solutions,

$$\mathbf{x} = \frac{q(CO_2)}{1 + k'(CO)/\mu}$$

$$y = -\frac{k'(OH)\mu^{1/2} + k'(H)/\mu^{1/2}}{4 + 4 k'(H_2)/\mu} + \sqrt{\left[\frac{K'(OH)\mu^{1/2} + k'(H)\mu^{1/2}}{4 + 4 k'(H_2)/\mu}\right]^2} + \frac{q(H_2O)}{1 + k'(H_2)/\mu},$$

$$z = -\frac{k'(NO)\mu + k'(N)}{4} + \sqrt{\left[\frac{k'(NO)\mu + k'(N)}{4}\right]^2} + q(N_2).$$

$$351 - 31 -$$

Equations (5.16), together with equations (5.11), (5.13), and (5.15), determine the equilibrium composition for assumed values of n and  $\mu$ .

The values of n and  $\mu$  leading to an exact calculation of the equilibrium composition satisfy the conditions,

$$F(\mu) = 0$$
,  $F(n) = 0$ ,

where the functions are defined by equations (4.22) and have the explicit form

$$F(\mu) = q(O_2) - n(O_2) + n(CO)/2 + n(H_2)/2 - n(O)/2 - n(OH)/4 + n(H)/4 - n(NO)/2,$$

$$F(n) = n - 1 - n(CO)/2 - n(H_2)/2 - n(O)/2 - n(OH)/4 - 3n(H)/4 - n(N)/2.$$
(5.17)

If F and G do not vanish, the application of the Newton-Raphson method to obtain an improved pair of values of n and  $\mu$  requires the solution of equations (4.23),

$$\begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} h(u) \\ h(n) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} F(u) \\ F(n), \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.18)

where  $h(\mu)$  and h(n) are estimates of the fractional error of the approximation to  $\mu$  and n, respectively, to be employed as indicated by equations (4.24) in obtaining the next approximation, and where the coefficients, defined by equations (4.25), are given by

$$A_{11} = 2n(O_2) + n(CO)/2 + n(H_2)/2 + n(O)/2 + n(OH)/8 + n(H)/8 + n(NO)/2 + U [-n(CO)/2] + V [- n(H_2) + n(OH)/4 - n(H)/4] + W [n(NO)/2] A_{12} = -n(CO)/4 - n(H_2)/4 + n(O)/4 + n(OH)/16 - 3n(H)/16 + X [- n(CO)/2] + Y [- n(H_2) + n(OH)/4 - n(H)/4] + Z [n(NO)/2] A_{21} = - n(CO)/2 - n(H_2)/2 + n(O)/2 + n(OH)/8 - 3n(H)/8 + U [n(CO)/2] + V [n(H_2) + n(OH)/4 + 3n(H)/4] + W [n(N)/2] A_{22} = - n + n(CO)/4 + n(H_2)/4 + n(O)/4 + n(OH)/16 + 9n(H)/16 + n(N)/4 + X [n(CO)/2] + Y [n(H_2) + n(OH)/4 + 3n(H)/4] + Z [n(N)/2]$$

where

$$U = \frac{n(CO)}{q(CO_2)}, \qquad X = -\frac{n(CO)/2}{q(CO_2)},$$
$$V = \frac{n(H_2) - n(OH)/4 + n(H)/4}{q(H_2O) + n(H_2O) + n(H_2)}, \qquad Y = -\frac{n(H_2)/2 + n(OH)/8 + 3n(H)/8}{q(H_2O) + n(H_2O) + n(H_2)}$$
$$W = \frac{n(NO)/2}{q(N_2) + n(N_2)}, \qquad Z = -\frac{n(N)/4}{q(N_2) + n(N_2)}.$$

If the oxidant is air, the concentration of argon is given by

$$p(A) = q(A).$$
 (5.19)

The equilibrium composition is expressed in terms of mole fractions by dividing the number of moles of each constituent by the total number of moles n of the mixture. The mass of the mixture in grams containing a total number of gram moles n is  $M_{\Omega}$ , where

$$M_{2} = 44.010 q(CO_{2}) + 18.016 q(H_{2}O) + 32.000 q(O_{2}) + 28.016 q(N_{2}) + 39.944 q(A).$$

#### The General Method for Rich Mixtures Without Solid Carbon

Fuel-oxidant mixtures containing a deficit of oxygen compared to the amount required for stoichiometric conversion of the carbon to carbon dioxide and the hydrogen to steam are called rich mixtures and are characterized by  $C \le 1/2$ , where C is the composition parameter defined by equation (3.2). If  $C \ge C_1$ , where  $C_1$  is the critical value of C defining the solid carbon boundary surface, equation (3.31), the equilibrium mixture will consist of a gas phase only. The predominant constituents of the combustion products satisfying the conditions of independence required for their choice as components are

except at very high temperatures. A more convenient set of components for mixtures at such temperatures (ca.  $4000^{\circ}$  K.) is described in a later section. If the oxidant is air, a fifth component, argon, must be considered.

The solution of equations (3.13) and (3.14) for this choice of components results in the equations

$$q(CO) = \frac{2(C/O)}{2(C/O) + (H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)},$$
$$q(H_2) = \frac{(H/O) + 2(C/O) - 2}{2(C/O) + (H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)},$$
$$q(H_2O) = \frac{2 - 2(C/O)}{2(C/O) + (H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)},$$

$$q(N_2) = \frac{(N/O)}{2(C/O) + (H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)},$$

q(A) = 
$$\frac{2(A/O)}{2(C/O) + (H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)}$$
,
relating the normalized stoichiometric constants to the atomic ratios. These relations can be employed, together with equations (3.6) or (3.7), to evaluate the stoichiometric constants for assigned values of the parameters descriptive of the gross composition of the system. If the oxidant is not air, (A/O) = O, q(A) = O, and we obtain

$$q(CO) = \frac{(1-A) (1-B)}{1 + A + B - AB},$$

$$q(H_2) = \frac{(1-A) [(1+B) (1-C) - 2C]}{(1-C) (1 + A + B - AB)},$$

$$q(H_2O) = \frac{(1-A) [2C - (1-B) (1-C)]}{(1-C) (1 + A + B - AB)},$$

$$q(N_2) = \frac{2A}{1 + A + B - AB}$$
(5.21)

by substitution of equations (3.5) into equations (5.20).

The chemical reactions in the form of equations (3, 11) for the formation of the dependent constituents from the components are

$$CO + H_2O - H_2 = CO_2,$$
  

$$2H_2O - 2H_2 = O_2,$$
  

$$H_2O - H_2 = O,$$
  

$$H_2O - \frac{1}{2}H_2 = OH,$$
  

$$\frac{1}{2}H_2 = H,$$
  

$$H_2O + \frac{1}{2}N_2 - H_2 = NO,$$
  

$$\frac{1}{2}N_2 = N,$$
  

$$CO + 3H_2 - H_2O = CH_4,$$
  

$$\frac{3}{2}H_2 + \frac{1}{2}N_2 = NH_3,$$

in which the symbols of all of the components are written on the left-hand side of the equations. The coefficients  $v_{ij}$  of these equations can be summarized in matrix form,

		СО	H <sub>2</sub>	H <sub>2</sub> O	N <sub>2</sub>	A	
		/					۵.
(v <sub>ij</sub> ) =	$\omega_2$	[ 1	-1	1	0	0	ŗ
	02	0	-2	2	0	0	
	0	0	- 1	1	0	0	
	он	0	- 1/2	1	0	0	<i>.</i>
	н	0	1/2	0	0	0	(5.2
	NO	0	- 1	1	1/2	0	
	N	0	0	. 0	1/2	0	
	CH <sub>4</sub>	1	3	-1	0	0	
	NH <sub>3</sub>	0	3/2	0	1/2	0	

The constants  $k_i$  of the mass action expressions, equations (4.9), are given for stated values of the temperature and pressure by

$$k(CO_{2}) = K(CO_{2}), \qquad k(NO) = p^{-1/2}K(NO),$$

$$k(O_{2}) = p^{-1}K(O_{2}), \qquad k(N) = p^{-1/2}K(N),$$

$$k(O) = p^{-1}K(O), \qquad k(CH_{4}) = p^{2}K(CH_{4}),$$

$$k(OH) = p^{-1/2}K(OH), \qquad k(NH_{3}) = pK(NH_{3}),$$

$$k(H) = p^{-1/2}K(H),$$
(5.23)

where the thermodynamic equilibrium constants can be calculated from the equilibrium, constants of formation by means of the relations,

K(CO <sub>2</sub> )	= $Kf(CO_2)/Kf(CO)Kf(H_2O)$ ,	$K(NO) = Kf(NO)/Kf(H_2O),$	
K(O <sub>2</sub> )	= $1/[Kf(H_{2O})]^2$ ,	$K(N) = Kf(N), \qquad (5)$	. 24)
K(O)	= $Kf(O)/Kf(H_2O)$ ,	$K(CH_4) = Kf(CH_4) Kf(H_2O)/Kf(CO),$	
K(OH)	= $Kf(OH)/Kf(H_2O)$ ,	$K(NH_3) = Kf(NH_3),$	
K(H)	= Kf(H).		

In writing down equations (5.25), we have taken account of the fact that the equilibrium constant of formation of an element is unity.

The mole fractions of the dependent constituents are determined, for assumed values of the mole fractions of the components, by equations (4.9) in the form

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{x}(\text{CO}_{2}) &= \mathbf{k}(\text{CO}_{2}) \ \mathbf{x}(\text{CO})\mathbf{x}(\text{H}_{2}\text{O})/\mathbf{x}(\text{H}_{2}), \\ \mathbf{x}(\text{O}_{2}) &= \mathbf{k}(\text{O}_{2}) \left[\mathbf{x}(\text{H}_{2}\text{O})\right]^{2} / \left[\mathbf{x}(\text{H}_{2})\right]^{2}, \\ \mathbf{x}(\text{O}) &= \mathbf{k}(\text{O}) \ \mathbf{x}(\text{H}_{2}\text{O})/\mathbf{x}(\text{H}_{2}), \\ \mathbf{x}(\text{OH}) &= \mathbf{k}(\text{OH})\mathbf{x}(\text{H}_{2}\text{O})/\left[\mathbf{x}(\text{H}_{2})\right]^{1/2}, \\ \mathbf{x}(\text{H}) &= \mathbf{k}(\text{H}) \left[\mathbf{x}(\text{H}_{2})\right]^{1/2}, \\ \mathbf{x}(\text{H}) &= \mathbf{k}(\text{H}) \left[\mathbf{x}(\text{H}_{2})\right]^{1/2}, \\ \mathbf{x}(\text{NO}) &= \mathbf{k}(\text{NO})\mathbf{x}(\text{H}_{2}\text{O}) \left[\mathbf{x}(\text{N}_{2})\right]^{1/2}/\mathbf{x}(\text{H}_{2}), \\ \mathbf{x}(\text{NO}) &= \mathbf{k}(\text{N}) \left[\mathbf{x}(\text{N}_{2})\right]^{1/2}, \\ \mathbf{x}(\text{CH}_{4}) &= \mathbf{k}(\text{CH}_{4})\mathbf{x}(\text{CO}) \left[\mathbf{x}(\text{H}_{2})\right]^{3/2} \left[\mathbf{x}(\text{N}_{2})\right]^{1/2}. \end{aligned}$$
(5.25)

The values of the mole fractions of the components leading to an exact calculation of the equilibrium composition satisfy the conditions

$$F(CO) = O, F(H_2) = O, F(H_2O) = O, F(N_2) = O,$$
 (5.26)

where the functions, defined by equations (4.11), are given by

$$F(CO) = Gq(CO) - x(CO) - x(CO_2) - x(CH_4),$$

$$F(H_2) = Gq(H_2) - x(H_2) + x(CO_2) + 2x(O_2) + x(O) + x(OH)/2$$

$$-x(H)/2 + x(NO) - 3x(CH_4) - 3x(NH_3)/2,$$

$$F(H_2O) = Gq(H_2O) - x(H_2O) - x(CO_2) - 2x(O_2) - x(O) - x(OH)$$

$$-x(NO) + x(CH_4),$$

$$F(N_2) = Gq(N_2) - x(N_2) - x(NO)/2 - x(N)/2 - x(NH_3)/2,$$
(5.27)

and where

$$G = 1 - x(O_2) - x(O) - x(OH)/2 - x(H)/2 - x(NO)/2 - x(N)/2 + 2x(CH_4) + x(NH_3).$$
(5.28)

The application of the Newton-Raphson method to the improvement of an approximate set of values of the mole fractions of the components requires the solution of equations (4.12) in the form

A <sub>11</sub>	A <sub>12</sub>	A <sub>13</sub>	A14	h(CO) =	F(CO)	
A <sub>21</sub>	A <sub>22</sub>	A <sub>23</sub>	A <sub>24</sub>	h(H <sub>2</sub> )	F(H <sub>2</sub> )	(5.29)
A <sub>31</sub>	A <sub>32</sub>	A33	A <sub>34</sub>	h(H <sub>2</sub> O)	F(H <sub>2</sub> O)	(),
A <sub>41</sub>	A <sub>42</sub>	A <sub>43</sub>	A44	h (N <sub>2</sub> )	F(N <sub>2</sub> )	

where h(CO),  $h(H_2)$ ,  $h(H_2O)$ , and  $h(N_2)$  are estimates of the fractional errors of a particular approximation to the mole fractions of the respective components, to be employed as indicated by equations (4.13) in obtaining the next approximation, and where the coefficients, defined by equations (4.14), are given by

$A_{11} = U_{11} \cdot V_1 q(CO),$	$A_{31} = U_{13} - V_1 q(H_2 O),$
$A_{12} = U_{12} - V_2 q(CO),$	$A_{32} = U_{23} - V_2q(H_2O),$
$A_{13} = U_{13} - V_3 q(CO),$	$A_{33} = U_{33} - V_{3}q(H_2O),$
$A_{14} = U_{14} - V_4 q$ (CO),	$A_{34} = U_{34} - V_4 q(H_2O),$
$A_{21} = U_{12} - V_1 q(H_2),$	$A_{41} = U_{14} - V_{1}q(N_2),$
$A_{22} = U_{22} - V_2 q(H_2),$	$A_{42} = U_{24} \cdot V_{2q}(N_2),$
$A_{23} = U_{23} - V_3 q(H_2),$	$A_{43} = U_{34} - V_{3}q(N_2),$
$A_{24} = U_{24} - V_4 q(H_2),$	$A_{44} = U_{44} - V_{4q}(N_2),$

with

 $U_{11} = x(CO) + x(CO_2) + x(CH_4), \quad U_{12} = -x(CO_2) + 3x(CH_4),$   $U_{13} = x(CO_2) - x(CH_4), \quad U_{14} = 0,$   $U_{22} = x(H_2) + x(CO_2) + 4x(O_2) + x(O) + x(OH)/4 + x(H)/4 + x(NO) + 9x(CH_4) + 9x(NH_3)/4,$   $U_{23} = x(CO_2) - 4x(O_2) - x(O) - x(OH)/2 - x(NO) - 3x(CH_4),$   $U_{24} = -x(NO)/2 - 3x(NH_3)/4,$   $U_{33} = x(H_2O) + x(CO_2) + 4x(O_2) + x(O) + x(OH) + x(NO) + x(CH_4),$  $U_{34} = x(NO)/2, \quad U_{44} = x(N_2) + x(NO)/4 + x(N)/4 + x(NH_3)/4,$ 

- 37 -

and

$$V_{1} = 2x(CH_{4}),$$

$$V_{2} = 2x(O_{2}) + x(O) + x(OH)/4 + x(H)/4 + x(NO)/2 + 6x(CH_{4}) + 3x(NH_{3})/2,$$

$$V_{3} = -2x(O_{2}) - x(O) - x(OH)/2 - x(NO)/2 - 2x(CH_{4}),$$

$$V_{4} = -x(NO)/4 - x(N)/4 + x(NH_{3})/4.$$

If the oxidant is air, so that  $q(A) \neq 0$ , the value of the mole fraction of argon in the equilibrium mixture, can be calculated from

$$x(A) = Gq(A).$$
 (5.30)

The total number of moles n contained in  $M_0$  grams of mixture is equal to  $G^{-1}$ , where

$$M_{o} = 28.010 \text{ q(CO)} + 2.016 \text{ q(H}_{2}) + 18.016 \text{ q(H}_{2}\text{O}) + 28.016 \text{ q(N}_{2}) + 39.944 \text{ q(A)},$$

and where the quantity G is defined by equation (5.28).

The rate of convergence of this method of computation can be increased substantially if the mole fractions of dependent constituents are calculated from an approximate set of values of the variables,  $y_1$ ,  $y_2$ ,  $y_3$ , and  $x(N_2)$ , where

$$y_{1} = x(CO) + x(CO_{2}),$$
  

$$y_{2} = x(H_{2}) - x(CO_{2}),$$
  

$$y_{3} = x(H_{2}O) + x(CO_{2}).$$
  
(5.31)

We may determine a value of  $x(CO_2)$ , consistent with given values of  $y_1$ ,  $y_2$ , and  $y_3$  and with the first of equations (5.26), by means of

$$x(CO_{2}) = -b + \sqrt{b^{2} + c} \text{ for } k(CO_{2}) < 1,$$

$$x(CO_{2}) = -b - \sqrt{b^{2} + c} \text{ for } k(CO_{2}) > 1,$$
(5.32)

where

$$b = \frac{y_2 + (y_1 + y_3) k(CO_2)}{2 [1 - k(CO_2)]}$$

$$c = \frac{y_1 y_3 k(CO_2)}{1 - k(CO_2)}.$$

where  $k(CO_2) = 1$ , the solution is

$$\kappa(CO_2) = \frac{y_1 y_3}{y_1 + y_2 + y_3}.$$
 (5.33)

- 38 -

The values of x(CO),  $x(H_2)$ , and  $x(H_2O)$  can then be determined for given  $y_1$ ,  $y_2$ , and  $y_3$  by equations (5.31), and they may be employed with equations (5.26) to complete the determination of the equilibrium composition for assumed values of  $y_1$ ,  $y_2$ , and  $y_3$ . If this determination does not satisfy the criteria for convergence, the next approximation can be obtained by means of

$$y'_{1} = y_{1} [1 + h (CO)] + x(CO_{2}) [-h(H_{2}) + h(H_{2}O)],$$
  

$$y'_{2} = y_{2} [1 + h (H_{2})] + x(CO_{2}) [-h(CO) + 2h(H_{2}) - h(H_{2}O)],$$
 (5.34)  

$$y'_{3} = y_{3} [1 + h (H_{2}O)] + x(CO_{2}) [h (CO) - h(H_{2})],$$
  

$$x'(N_{2}) = x(N_{2}) [1 + h (N_{2})],$$

where h(CO), h(H<sub>2</sub>), h(H<sub>2</sub>O), h(N<sub>2</sub>) are the solutions of equations (5.29) and where  $y'_1$ ,  $y'_2$ ,  $y'_3$ ,  $x'(N_2)$  are the new approximations to  $y_1$ ,  $y_2$ ,  $y_3$ , and  $x(N_2)$ , respectively.

## A Special Method for Rich Mixtures without Solid Carbon

The special method of computation can profitably be employed in calculations for conditions such that the convergence of the general method is inconveniently slow. This will be the case for mixtures near the stoichiometric point C = 1/2 and for mixtures at temperatures such that dissociation of the components into atomic species is important. Although the special method converges more rapidly than the general method, each iteration of the special method involves a considerably longer and less systematic computational routine than is required by the general method.

At temperatures sufficiently high so that methane and ammonia can be assumed to be absent from the equilibrium mixture, we take the variable  $\mu$ , defined by equation (4.17), to be

$$\mu = n(H_2O)/n(H_2),$$
 (5.35)

and employ equation (5.35) to eliminate  $n(H_2O)$  from the set of equations describing the equilibrium conditions. The stoichiometric conditions, equations (4.1), can be written in the form,

$$n(CO) + n(CO_2) = q(CO),$$
  

$$n(H_2) [1 + \mu] + n(OH)/2 + n(H)/2 = q'(H_2) = q(H_2) + q(H_2O),$$
 (5.36)  

$$n(N_2) + n(NO)/2 + n(N)/2 = q(N_2),$$

where the second equation is a linear combination of the stoichiometric conditions on the components  $H_2$  and  $H_2O$ . The mass action expressions, equations (4.19), can be written explicitly

$$n(CO_{2}) = k'(CO_{2}) \times \mu, \qquad n(O_{2}) = k'(O_{2}) \mu^{2},$$

$$n(OH) = k'(OH) \times \mu, \qquad n(O) = k'(O) \mu,$$

$$n(H) = k'(H) \times \mu, \qquad n(NO) = k'(NO) \times \mu,$$

$$n(N) = k'(N) \times \mu,$$
(5.37)

- 39 -

where

$$k'(CO_{2}) = k(CO_{2}), \qquad k'(O_{2}) = nk(O_{2}),$$

$$k'(OH) = n^{1/2}k(OH), \qquad k'(O) = nk(O),$$

$$k'(H) = n^{1/2}k(H), \qquad k'(NO) = n^{1/2}k(NO),$$

$$k'(N) = n^{1/2}k(N),$$
(5.38)

and where we have employed the abbreviations

$$\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{n}(CO), \ \mathbf{y}^2 = \mathbf{n}(H_2), \ \mathbf{z}^2 = \mathbf{n}(N_2).$$
 (5.39)

Substituting equations (5.37) into equations (5.36), we obtain

$$x \left[ 1 + k'(CO_2) \mu \right] -q(CO) = 0,$$

$$y^2 (1 + \mu) + y \left[ k'(OH) \mu + k'(H) \right] / 2 - q'(H_2) = 0,$$

$$z^2 + z \left[ k'(NO) \mu + k'(N) \right] / 2 - q(N_2) = 0,$$

with the solutions

$$x = \frac{q(CO)}{1 + k'(CO_2)\mu},$$

$$y = \frac{k'(OH)\mu + k'(H)}{4(1 + \mu)} + \sqrt{\left[\frac{k'(OH)\mu + k'(H)}{4(1 + \mu)}\right]^2 + \frac{q'(H_2)}{1 + \mu}, }$$

$$z = -\frac{k'(NO)\mu + k'(N)}{4} + \sqrt{\left[\frac{k'(NO)\mu + k'(N)}{4}\right]^2 + q(N_2). }$$

$$(5.40)$$

Equations (5.40), together with equations (5.35), (5.37), and (5.39), determine the equilibrium composition for assumed values of n and  $\mu$ .

The values of n and  $\mu$  leading to an exact calculation of the equilibrium composition satisfy the conditions,

$$F(\mu) = O$$
,  $F(n) = O$ ,

where the functions are defined by equations (4.22) and have the explicit form,

$$F(\mu) = q(H_2O) - n(H_2O) - n(CO_2) - 2n(O_2) - n(O) - n(OH) - n(NO),$$
  

$$F(n) = n - 1 - n(O_2) - n(O) - n(OH)/2 - n(H)/2 - n(NO)/2 - n(N)/2,$$
(5.41)

- 40 -

If F and G do not vanish, the application of the Newton-Raphson method to obtain an improved pair of values of n and  $\mu$  requires the solution of equations (4.23),

$$\begin{pmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} h(\mu) \\ h(n) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} F(\mu) \\ F(n) \end{pmatrix},$$
 (5.42)

where  $h(\mu)$  and h(n) are estimates of the fractional error of the approximation to  $\mu$  and n, respectively, to be employed as indicated by equations (4.24) in obtaining the next approximation, and where the coefficients, defined by equations (4.25), are given by

$$A_{11} = n(H_2O) + n(CO_2) + 4n(O_2) + n(O) + n(OH) + n(NO)$$
  
+ U n(CO\_2) + V [2n(H\_2O) + n(OH)] + W n(NO),  
$$A_{12} = 2n(O_2) + n(O) + n(OH)/2 + n(NO)/2$$
  
+ X n(CO\_2) + Y [2n(H\_2O) + n(OH)] + Z n(NO),  
$$A_{21} = 2n(O_2) + n(O) + n(OH)/2 + n(NO)/2$$
  
+ V [n(OH)/2 + n(H)/2] + W [n(NO)/2 + n(N)/2],  
$$A_{22} = -n + n(O_2) + n(O) + n(OH)/4 + n(H) + n(NO)/4 + n(N)/4$$

+ Y 
$$[n(OH)/2 + n(H)/2]$$
 + W  $[n(NO)/2 + n(N)/2]$ ,

where

$$U = -\frac{n(\Omega_2)}{q(\Omega_0)}, \qquad X = 0,$$
  

$$V = -\frac{n(H_2O) - n(OH)/2}{q^{\dagger}(H_2) + n(H_2) + n(H_2O)}, \qquad Y = -\frac{n(OH)/4 + n(H)/4}{q^{\dagger}(H_2) + n(H_2) + n(H_2O)},$$
  

$$W = -\frac{n(NO)/2}{q(N_2) - n(N_2)}, \qquad Z = -\frac{n(NO)/4 + n(H)/4}{q(N_2) + n(N_2)}.$$

If the oxidant is air, the concentration of argon is given by

$$n(A) = q(A).$$
 (5.43)

The equilibrium composition is expressed in terms of mole fractions by dividing the number of moles of each constituent by the total number of moles n of the mixture. The mass of the mixture, in grams, containing a total number of gram moles n is  $M_0$ , where

 $M_0 = 28.010 q(CO) + 2.016 q(H_2) + 18.016 q(H_2O) + 28.016 q(N_2) + 39.944 q(A).$ 

It should be noted that this computation program remains determinate for the case where the system contains no hydrogen (B = O), since  $\mu$  remains finite as n(H<sub>2</sub>) and n(H<sub>2</sub>O) tend to zero.

## A Special Method for Homogeneous Mixtures at High Temperatures

At high temperatures (ca. 4,000° K.), a considerable amount of dissociation results in the formation of atomic species at the expense of the substances employed as components for the previously described computational methods for both lean and rich mixtures. Under these circumstances, these methods are inconveniently slow in converging, and it is useful to employ a special computation program for these temperatures. The predominant constituents of the combustion products satisfying the conditions of independence required for their choice as components are

If the oxidant is air, a fifth component, argon, must be considered. At these temperatures, ammonia and methane need not be considered as possible constituents of the equilibrium mixture.

The solution of equations (3.13) and (3.14) for this choice of components results in the equations

$$q(CO) = \frac{2(C/O)}{2 + 2(H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)},$$

$$q(H) = \frac{2(H/O)}{2 + 2(H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)},$$

$$q(O) = \frac{2 - 2(C/O)}{2 + 2(H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)},$$

$$q(N_2) = \frac{(N/O)}{2 + 2(H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)},$$

$$q(A) = \frac{2(A/O)}{2 + 2(H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)},$$
(5.4)

4)

relating the normalized stoichiometric constants to the atomic ratios. These relations can be employed, together with equations (3.6) or (3.7), to evaluate the stoichiometric constants for assigned values of the parameters descriptive of the gross composition of the system. If the oxidant is not air, (A/O) = O, q(A) = O, and we obtain by substitution of equations (3.5)

- 42 -

$$q(CO) = \frac{(1-A)(1-B)(1-C)}{2C(1-A) + 2(1-C)(A + 2B - 2AB)},$$

$$q(H) = \frac{2B(1-A(1-C))}{C(1-A) + (1-C)(A + 2B - 2AB)},$$

$$q(O) = \frac{(1-A)(B + 3C - BC - 1)}{2C(1-A) + 2(1-C)(A + 2B - 2AB)},$$

$$q(N_2) = \frac{A(1-C)}{C(1-A) + (1-C)(A + 2B - 2AB)}.$$
(5.45)

The stoichiometric constants for this program can be computed from those for the program for rich mixtures without solid carbon at lower temperatures by means of the relations

$$q(CO) = q(CO)^{(r)} [q(CO)^{(r)} + 2q(H_2)^{(r)} + 3q(H_2O)^{(r)} + q(N_2)^{(r)}],$$

$$q(H) = [2q(H_2)^{(r)} + 2q(H_2O)^{(r)}] / [q(CO)^{(r)} + 2q(H_2)^{(r)} + 3q(H_2O)^{(r)} + q(N_2)^{(r)}],$$

$$q(O) = q(H_2O)^{(r)} / [q(CO)^{(r)} + 2q(H_2)^{(r)} + 3q(H_2O)^{(r)} + q(N_2)^{(r)}],$$
(5.46)

$$q(N_2) = q(N_2)^{(r)} / [q(CO)^{(r)} + 2q(H_2)^{(r)} + 3q(H_2O)^{(r)} + q(N_2)^{(r)}],$$

where the superscript r is employed to designate the previously defined constants for homogeneous, rich mixtures at lower temperatures. Similarly, in terms of the constants for lean mixtures at lower temperatures,

$$\begin{aligned} q(\Omega) &= q(\Omega_{2})^{(\mathcal{L})} / \left[ 2q(\Omega_{2})^{(\mathcal{L})} + 3q(H_{2}\Omega)^{(\mathcal{L})} + 2q(\Omega_{2})^{(\mathcal{L})} + q(N_{2})^{(\mathcal{L})} \right], \\ q(H) &= 2q(H_{2}\Omega)^{(\mathcal{L})} / \left[ 2q(\Omega_{2})^{(\mathcal{L})} + 3q(H_{2}\Omega)^{(\mathcal{L})} + 2q(\Omega_{2})^{(\mathcal{L})} + q(N_{2})^{(\mathcal{L})} \right], \end{aligned}$$
(5.47)  
$$q(O) &= \left[ q(\Omega_{2})^{(\mathcal{L})} + q(H_{2}\Omega)^{(\mathcal{L})} + 2q(\Omega_{2})^{(\mathcal{L})} \right] / \left[ 2q(\Omega_{2})^{(\mathcal{L})} + 3q(H_{2}\Omega)^{(\mathcal{L})} + 2q(\Omega_{2})^{(\mathcal{L})} \right] \\ &+ q(N_{2})^{(\mathcal{L})} \right], \end{aligned}$$

$$q(N_2) = q(N_2)^{(L)} / \left[ 2q(CO_2)^{(L)} + 3q(H_2O)^{(L)} + 2q(O_2)^{(L)} + q(N_2)^{(L)} \right],$$

where the superscript  $\mathcal{L}$  is employed to designate the previously defined constants for lean mixtures at lower temperatures.

$$CO + O = CO_{2},$$
  

$$2H = H_{2},$$
  

$$2H + O = H_{2}O,$$
  

$$2 O = O_{2},$$
  

$$O + H = OH,$$
  

$$(1/2)N_{2} + O = NO,$$
  

$$(1/2)N_{2} = N.$$

The coefficients  $v_{ij}$  of these equations can be summarized in matrix form,

	CO	Н	0	$N_2$	Α	
	/			· · · ·	<u> </u>	 }
$(v_{ij}) = CO_2$	1	0	1	0	0,	
H <sub>2</sub>	0	2	0	0	0	
н <sub>2</sub> о	0	2	1	0	0	(5.48)
0 <sub>2</sub>	0	0	2	0	0	
OH	0	1	1	0	0	
NO	0	0	1	1/2	. 0	
Ν		0	0	1/2	0	

The constants  $k_i$  of the mass action expressions, equations (4.9), are given for stated values of the temperature and pressure by

$$k(CO_{2}) = pK(CO_{2}), k(OH) = pK(OH),$$

$$k(H_{2}) = pK(H_{2}), k(NO) = p^{1/2}K(NO),$$

$$k(H_{2}O) = p^{2}K(H_{2}O), k(N) = p^{-1/2}K(N),$$

$$k(O_{2}) = pK(O_{2}),$$
(5.49)

where the thermodynamic equilibrium constants can be calculated from the equilibrium constants of formation by means of the relations

$$K(CO_{2}) = Kf(CO_{2})/Kf(CO)Kf(O), K(OH) = Kf(OH)/Kf(H)Kf(O), (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50) (5.50)$$

In writing equations (5.50) we have taken account of the fact that the equilibrium constant of formation of an element is unity.

The mass action expressions, equations (4.19) can be written in the form

$$n(CO_{2}) = k'(CO_{2}) x\mu, \qquad n(OH) = k'(OH) y\mu,$$
  

$$n(H_{2}) = k'(H_{2}) y^{2}, \qquad n(NO) = k'(NO) z\mu,$$
  

$$n(H_{2}O) = k'(H_{2}O) y^{2}\mu, \qquad n(N) = k'(N) z,$$
  

$$n(O_{2}) = k'(O_{2}) \mu^{2}, \qquad (5.51)$$

where we have introduced the variable

$$\mu = \mathbf{n}(\mathbf{O}), \tag{5.52}$$

and the abbreviations

$$x = n(CO), y = n(H), z^2 = n(N_2),$$
 (5.53)

- 44 -

and where

$$k'(CO_{2}) = n^{-1}k(CO_{2}), \qquad k'(OH) = n^{-1}k(OH),$$

$$k'(H_{2}) = n^{-1}k(H_{2}), \qquad k'(NO) = n^{-1/2}k(NO), \qquad (5.54)$$

$$k'(H_{2}O) = n^{-2}k(H_{2}O), \qquad k'(N) = n^{-1/2}k(N),$$

$$k'(O_{2}) = n^{-1}k(O_{2}).$$

We employ the stoichiometric conditions in the form given by equations (4.1). The conditions on the components CO, H, and N $_2$  are

$$n(CO) + n(CO_2) = q(CO),$$
  

$$n(H) + 2n(H_2) + 2n(H_2O) + n(OH) = q(H),$$
 (5.55)  

$$n(N_2) + n(NO)/2 + n(N)/2 = q(N_2).$$

Substituting equations (5.57) and (5.53) into equations (5.55), there are obtained

$$x [1 + k'(CO)\mu] - q(CO) = 0,$$

$$2y^2 [k'(H_2) + k'(H_2O)\mu] + y [1 + k'(OH)\mu] - q(H) = 0,$$

$$z^2 + z [k'(NO)\mu + k'(N)]/2 - q(N_2) = 0,$$

with the solutions

$$\mathbf{x} = \frac{q(CO)}{1 + k'(CO)\mu},$$

$$\mathbf{y} = \frac{1 + k'(OH)\mu}{4k'(H_2) + 4k'(H_2O)\mu} + \sqrt{\left[\frac{1 + k'(OH)\mu}{4k'(H_2) + 4k'(H_2O)\mu}\right]^2 + \frac{q(H)}{2k'(H_2) + 2k'(H_2O)\mu}}, \quad (5.56)$$

$$\mathbf{z} = \frac{k'(NO)\mu + k'(N)}{4} + \sqrt{\left[\frac{k'(NO)\mu + k'(N)}{4}\right]^2} + q(N_2).$$

Equations (5.56), together with equations (5.51), (5.52), and (5.53), determine the equilibrium composition for assumed values of n and  $\mu$ .

The values of n and  $\mu$  leading to an exact calculation of the equilibrium composition satisfy the conditions

$$F(\mu) = 0, F(n) = 0,$$

where the functions, defined by equations (4.22), are given by

$$F(\mu) = q(O) - n(O) - n(CO_2) - n(H_2O) - 2n(O_2) - n(OH) - n(NO),$$

$$F(n) = n - 1 + n(CO_2) + n(H_2) + 2n(H_2O) + n(O_2) + n(OH) + n(NO)/2 - n(N)/2.$$
(5.57)

4351

- 45 -

If F and G do not vanish, the application of the Newton-Raphson method to obtain an improved pair of values of n and  $\mu$  requires the solution of equations (4.23),

A <sub>11</sub>	A <sub>12</sub>	$h(\mathbf{u})$	=	F(u)	,	(5.58)
A <sub>21</sub>	A <sub>22</sub>	h(n)		F(n) ,		(),)()

where  $h(\mu)$  and h(n) are estimates of the fractional error of the approximation to  $\mu$  and n, respectively, to be employed as indicated by equations (4.24) in obtaining the next approximation, and where the coefficients, defined by equations (4.25), are given by

$$\begin{aligned} A_{11} &= n(O) + n(CO_2) + n(H_2O) + 4n(O_2) + n(OH) + n(NO) \\ &+ Un(CO_2) + V[2n(H_2O) + n(OH)] + Wn(NO), \\ A_{12} &= -n(CO_2) - 2n(H_2O) - 2n(O_2) - n(OH) - n(NO)/2 \\ &+ Xn(CO_2) + Y[2n(H_2O) + n(OH)] + Zn(NO), \\ A_{21} &= -n(CO_2) - 2n(H_2O) - 2n(O_2) - n(OH) - n(NO)/2 \\ &+ U[-n(CO_2)] + V[-2n(H_2) - 4n(H_2O) - n(OH)] + W[-n(NO)/2 + n(N)/2], \\ A_{22} &= -n + n(CO_2) + n(H_2) + 4n(H_2O) + n(O_2) + n(OH) + n(NO)/4 + n(N)/4 \\ &+ X[-n(CO_2)] + Y[-2n(H_2) - 4n(H_2O) - n(OH)] + Z[-n(NO)/2 + n(N)/2], \end{aligned}$$

where

$$U = -\frac{n(CO_2)}{q(CO)}, \qquad X = \frac{n(CO_2)}{q(CO)},$$
$$V = -\frac{2n(H_2O) + n(OH)}{q(H) + 2n(H_2) + 2n(H_2O)}, \qquad Y = \frac{n(H_2) + 2n(H_2O) + n(OH)}{q(H) + 2n(H_2) + 2n(H_2O)},$$
$$W = -\frac{n(NO)/2}{q(N_2) + n(N_2)}, \qquad Z = \frac{n(NO)/2 - n(N)/2}{q(N_2) + n(N_2)}.$$

If the oxidant is air, the concentration of argon is given by

$$n(A) = q(A).$$
 (5.59)

The mass of the mixture containing a total of n moles is  $M_0$ , where

 $M_o = 28.010 q(CO) + 1.008 q(H) + 16.000 q(O) + 28.016 q(N_2) + 39.944 q(A).$ 

Rich fuel-oxidant mixtures that are characterized by  $C < C_1$ , where C is the composition parameter defined by equation (3.2) and  $C_1$  is the critical value of C defining the solid carbon boundary surface, equation (3.31), consist of a gas phase in equilibrium with solid carbon. The predominant constituents of the combustion products satisfying the conditions of independence required for their choice as components are

$$C_{(s)}$$
, CO, H<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>.

Because the system is heterogeneous, it possesses only two degrees of freedom for the specification of composition, and the computation program is based upon the gaseous components only. If the oxidant is air, a fifth component, argon, must be considered.

The solution of equations (3.13) and (3.14) for this choice of components results in the equations

$$q(CO) = \frac{2}{2 + (H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)},$$

$$q(H_2) = \frac{(H/O)}{2 + (H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)},$$

$$q(N_2) = \frac{(N/O)}{2 + (H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)},$$

$$q(A) = \frac{2(A/O)}{2 + (H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)},$$
(5.60)

relating the normalized stoichiometric constants to the atomic ratios. These relations are independent of the amount of carbon available, which is assumed to be in excess. They can be employed, together with equations (3.6) or (3.7) to evaluate the stoichiometric constants for assigned values of the parameters descriptive of the gross composition of the system. If the oxidant is not air, (A/O) = O, q(A) = O, and we obtain by substitution of equations (3.5) the relations

$$q(CO) = E(1-D),$$
  
 $q(H_2) = (1-D) (1-E),$  (5.61)  
 $q(N_2) = D$ 

for a system described by the parameters D and E.

We shall determine, in addition to the equilibrium composition of the gas phase, the location of the solid carbon boundary surface in the form  $B_1 = B_1(D, E, p, T)$ .

The chemical reactions in the form of equations (3.11) for the formation of the dependent constituents from the components are

$$2CO - C_{(s)} = CO_{2},$$

$$CO + H_{2} - C_{(s)} = H_{2}O,$$

$$2CO - 2C_{(s)} = O,$$

$$CO - C_{(s)} = O,$$

$$CO + \frac{1}{2}H_{2} - C_{(s)} = OH,$$

$$\frac{1}{2}H_{2} = H,$$

$$CO + \frac{1}{2}N_{2} - C_{(s)} = NO,$$

$$\frac{1}{2}N_{2} = N,$$

$$C_{(s)} + 2H_{2} = CH_{4},$$

$$\frac{3}{2}H_{2} + \frac{1}{2}N_{2} = NH_{3},$$

in which the symbols of all of the components are written on the left-hand side of the equations. The coefficients  $\nu_{ij}$  of these equations can be summarized in matrix form,

	C <sub>(s)</sub>	CO	H <sub>2</sub>	N <sub>2</sub>	А
$(v_{ij}) = CO_2$	(-1)	2	0	0	0
11 <sub>2</sub> 0	(-1)	1	1	0	0
02	(-2)	2	0	0	0
0	(- 1)	1	0	0	0
ОН	(- 1)	1	1/2	0	0
Н	0	0	1/2	. 0 ,	0
· NO	(-1)	1	0	1/2	0
N	0	0	0	1/2	0.
CH <sub>4</sub>	(1)	0	2	0	0
NH <sub>3</sub>	0	0	3/2	1/2	0

where the entries in the column for solid carbon are enclosed in parentheses to indicate that these elements are not to be taken into account in summations over the gaseous components. The constants  $k_i$  of the mass action expressions, equations (4.9), are given for stated values of the temperature and pressure by

$k(CO_2) = pK(CO_2),$	$k(H) = p^{-1/2}K(H),$	
$k(H_{2}O) = pK(H_{2}O),$	$k(NO) = p^{1/2}K(NO),$	
$k(O_2) = pK(O_2),$	$k(N) = p^{-1/2}X(N),$	(5.63)
k(O) = K(O),	$k(CH_4) = pK(CH_4),$	
$k(OH) = p^{1/2}K(OH),$	$k (NH_{3}) = pK(NH_{3}),$	

where the thermodynamic equilibrium constants can be calculated from the equilibrium constants of formation by means of the relations

$$\begin{split} & K(CO_2) = Kf(CO_2)Kf(C) / [Kf(CO)]^2, & K(H) = Kf(H), \\ & K(H_2O) = Kf(H_2O)Kf(C) / Kf(CO), & K(NO) = Kf(NO)Kf(C) / Kf(CO), \\ & K(O_2) = [Kf(C)]^2 / [Kf(CO)]^2, & K(N) = Kf(N), \\ & K(O) = Kf(O)Kf(C) / Kf(CO), & K(CH_4) = Kf(CH_4) / Kf(C), \\ & K(OH) = Kf(OH)Kf(C) / Kf(CO), & K(NH_3) = Kf(NH_3). \end{split}$$

In writing equations (5.64), we have taken account of the fact that the equilibrium constant of formation of a gaseous element is unity. If solid carbon is assumed to be in the form of graphite, then Kf(C) = 1. However, if the solid carbon is assumed to exist in an activated form, the equilibrium constant of formation of the activated form can be used explicitly in equations (5.66).

The mole fractions of the dependent constituents are determined by equations (4.9) in the form

$$x(CO_{2}) = k(CO) [x(CO)]^{2},$$
  

$$x(H_{2}O) = k(H_{2}O) x(CO) x(H_{2}),$$
  

$$x(O_{2}) = k(O_{2}) [x(CO)]^{2},$$
  

$$x(O) = k(O) x(CO),$$
  

$$x(OH) = k(OH) x(CO) [x(H_{2})]^{1/2},$$
  

$$x(H) = k(H) [x(H_{2})]^{1/2},$$
  

$$x(NO) = k(NO) x(CO) [x(N_{2})]^{1/2},$$
  

$$x(N) = k(N) [x(N_{2})]^{1/2},$$
  

$$x(CH_{4}) = k(CH_{4}) [x(H_{2})]^{2},$$
  

$$x(NH_{3}) = k(NH_{3}) [x(H_{2})]^{3/2} [x(N_{2})]^{1/2}$$

(5.65)

for assumed values of the mole fractions of the components. The values of the mole fractions of the gaseous components leading to an exact calculation of the equilibrium composition of the gaseous phase satisfy the conditions

$$F(CO) = O, F(H_2) = O, F(N_2) = O,$$

4351

- 49 -

where the functions, defined by equations (4.11) are given by

$$F(CO) = Gq(CO) - x(CO) - 2x(CO_2) - x(H_2O) - 2x(O_2) - x(O) - x(OH) - x(NO),$$
  

$$F(H_2) = Gq(H_2) - x(H_2) - x(H_2O) - x(OH)/2 - x(H)/2 - 2x(CH_4) - 3x(NH_3)/2,$$
 (5.66)  

$$F(N_2) = Gq(N_2) - x(N_2) - x(NO)/2 - x(N/2) - x(NH_3)/2,$$

and where

$$G=1+x(CO_2)+x(H_2O)+x(O_2)+x(OH)/2-x(H)/2+x(NO)/2-x(N)/2+x(CH_4)+x(NH_3).$$
(5.67)

The application of the Newton-Raphson method to the improvement of an approximate set of values of the mole fractions of the gaseous components requires the solution of equations (4.12) in the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} & A_{13} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} & A_{23} \\ A_{31} & A_{32} & A_{33} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} h(CO) \\ h(H_2) \\ h(N_2) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} F(CO) \\ F(H_2) \\ F(N_2) \end{pmatrix} ,$$
(5.68)

where h(CO),  $h(H_2)$ , and  $h(N_2)$  are estimates of the fractional errors of a particular approximation to the mole fractions of the respective gaseous components, to be employed as indicated by equations (4.13) in obtaining the next approximation, and where the coefficients, defined by equations (4.14), are given by

$$A_{11} = U_{11} - V_1 q(CO),$$
 $A_{23} = U_{23} - V_3 q(H_2),$  $A_{12} = U_{12} - V_2 q(CO),$  $A_{31} = U_{13} - V_1 q(N_2),$  $A_{13} = U_{13} - V_3 q(CO),$  $A_{32} = U_{23} - V_2 q(N_2),$  $A_{21} = U_{21} - V_1 q(H_2),$  $A_{33} = U_{33} - V_3 q(N_2),$  $A_{22} = U_{22} - V_2 q(H_2),$  $A_{33} = U_{33} - V_3 q(N_2),$ 

with

$$U_{11} = x(CO) + 4x(CO_2) + x(H_2O) + 4x(O_2) + x(O) + x(OH) + x(NO),$$
  

$$U_{12} = x(H_2O) + x(OH)/2, \qquad U_{13} = x(NO)/2,$$
  

$$U_{22} = x(H_2) + x(H_2O) + x(OH)/4 + x(H)/4 + 4x(CH_4)/4 + 9x(NH_3)/4,$$
  

$$U_{23} = 3x(NH_3)/4, \qquad U_{33} = x(N_2) + x(NO)/4 + x(N)/4 + x(NH_3)/4,$$
  
(5.70)

and

$$V_{1} = 2x(CO_{2}) + x(H_{2}O) + 2x(O_{2}) + x(OH)/2 + x(NO)/2,$$
  

$$V_{2} = x(H_{2}O) + x(OH)/4 - x(H)/4 + 2x(CH_{4}) + 3x(NH_{3})/2,$$
 (5.71)  

$$V_{3} = x(NO)/4 - x(N)/4 + x(NH_{3})/2.$$

If the oxidant is air, so that q(A) = O, the value of the mole fraction of argon in the equilibrium mixture can be calculated from

$$x(A) = G q(A).$$
 (5.72)

The total number of moles n contained in  $M_0$  grams of the gaseous mixture is  $G^{-1}$ , where

$$M_{0} = 28.010 q(CO) + 2.016 q(H_{2}) + 28.016 q(N_{2}) + 39.944 q(A)$$

and where the quantity G is defined by equation (5.67).

In order to determine the location of the solid carbon boundary surface, the number of gram atoms of carbon contained in  $M_0$  grams of gas phase in the form of compounds of carbon is calculated by

$$Q_{C}^{'} = \frac{1}{G} \left[ x(CO) + x(CO_{2}) + x(CH_{4}) \right].$$
 (5.73)

It is evident from equations (5.66) that the number of gram atoms of hydrogen in the same weight of gas phase is

$$Q_{\rm H} = 2q({\rm H}_2).$$
 (5.74)

If these relations are substituted into the definition of B given in equations (3.3), we obtain

$$B_{1} = \frac{q(H_{2})}{2Q_{C}^{\dagger} + q(H_{2})}.$$
 (5.75)

Now  $q(H_2)$  is a function of D and E, given by equations (5.61), and  $Q_C^{\dagger}$  is a function of the equilibrium composition, and therefore an implicitly prescribed function of D, E, the temperature, and the pressure. It follows that equation (5.75) is a relation of the form

 $B_1 = B_1(D, E, p, T)$ 

for the location of the solid carbon boundary surface.

If the amount of carbon available to the system is limited and specified by a value of the parameter  $B < B_1$ , the amount of solid carbon in the heterogeneous mixture at equilibrium is given by equation (3.29), which can be written in the form

$$n(C_{(s)}) = (1-D) (1-E) (B_1-B)/B_1B,$$
 (5.76)

where  $n(C_{(s)})$  is the number of gram atoms of solid carbon in equilibrium with  $M_0$  grams of gaseous mixture.

The foregoing computation method has been based essentially upon a specification of the amounts of hydrogen, oxygen, and nitrogen available to a system with an excess of carbon. This method affords the most convenient basis for treating systems that are known in advance to be

heterogeneous. However, it is not convenient in determining the range of applicability of a computation method for rich homogeneous mixtures described by the parameters A, B, and C. For the latter purpose, a representation of the solid carbon boundary surface in the form

$$C_1 = C_1 (A, B, p, T)$$

is desired, requiring a computation method based upon a specification of the amounts of carbon, hydrogen, and nitrogen available to the system. Such a description of the composition is not the natural one to employ, and the computation program for this case can not be formulated by the routine application of the general principles. However, it is possible to devise a computation method for the heterogeneous mixture whose composition is described by specification of the parameters A and B, and this method is similar, except in detail, to the one that has been described.

An alternative solution of equations (3.13) and (3.14), appropriate to the present application, can be written in the form

$$q(CO) = \frac{2(C/O)}{2(C/O) + (H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)},$$

$$q(H_2) = \frac{(H/O)}{2(C/O) + (H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)},$$

$$q(N_2) = \frac{(N/O)}{2(C/O) + (H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)},$$

$$q(A) = \frac{2(A/O)}{2(C/O) + (H/O) + (N/O) + 2(A/O)},$$

in which q(CO) is determined by the relative amount of carbon available instead of by the relative amount of oxygen available, as in equations (5.60). Equations (5.77) are independent of the relative amount of oxygen available to the system. They yield

$$q(CO) = \frac{(1-A) (1-B)}{1 + A + B - AB},$$

$$q(H_2) = \frac{2B(1-A)}{1 + A + B - AB},$$

$$q(N_2) = \frac{W2A}{1 + A + B - AB},$$
(5.78)

(5.77)

for a system described by the parameters A and B.

The mole fractions of the dependent constituents are determined by equations (5.65) for assumed values of the mole fractions of the components. The mass action constants appearing in these expressions are defined by equations (5.63) and (5.64).

The values of the mole fractions of the gaseous components leading to an exact calculation of the equilibrium composition of the gaseous phase satisfy the conditions

$$F(CO) = O$$
,  $F(H_2) = O$ ,  $F(N_2) = O$ ,

where the functions are given by

$$F(CO) = Gq(CO) - x(CO) - x(CO_2) - x(CH_4),$$
  

$$F(H_2) = Gq(H_2) - x(H_2) - x(H_2O) - x(OH)/2 - x(H)/2 - 2x(CH_4) - 3x(NH_3)/2,$$
  

$$F(N_2) = Gq(N_2) - x(N_2) - x(NO)/2 - x(NH_3)/2,$$
(5.79)

and where

$$G = 1 \cdot x(OH) / 2 \cdot x(H) / 2 \cdot x(NO) / 2 \cdot x(N) / 2 + 2x(CH_4) + x(NH_3).$$
(5.80)

The first member of equations (5.79) differs from the corresponding member of equations (5.66) because the value of q(CO) is determined for the former case by the relative amount of carbon available to the gaseous phase and for the latter case by the relative amount of oxygen available to this phase. As a result, the definition of G given by equation (5.80) differs from that given by equation (5.67).

The application of the Newton-Raphson method to the improvement of an approximate set of values of the mole fractions of the components requires the solution of equations (5.68), the coefficients of which are given by equations (5.69). However, in the evaluation of equations (5.69), the definitions of the quantities  $U_{jj}$  and  $V_j$ , given for the former case by equations (5.70) and (5.71), respectively, must be replaced by the relations

$$U_{11} = x(CO) + x(CO_2) + x(CH_4),$$
  

$$U_{12} = 2x(CH_4), \quad U_{13} = O,$$
  

$$U_{22} = x(H_2) + x(H_2O) + x(OH)/4 + x(H)/4 + 4x(CH_4) + 9x(NH_3)/4,$$
  

$$U_{23} = 3x(NH_3)/4, \quad U_{33} = x(N_2) + x(NO)/4 + x(N)/4 + x(NH_3)/4$$
(5.81)

and

$$V_{1} = 2x(CH_{4}),$$

$$V_{2} = -x(OH)/4 - x(H)/4 + 4x(CH_{4}) + 3x(NH_{3})/2,$$

$$V_{3} = -x(NO)/4 - x(N)/4 + x(NH_{3})/2.$$
(5.82)

If the oxidant is air, the value of the mole fraction of argon is given by equation (5.72), with G defined by equation (5.80). The total number of moles n contained in  $M_0$  grams of the gaseous mixture is G<sup>-1</sup>, where  $M_0$  is again given by

 $M_{0} = 28.010 q(CO) + 2.016 q(H_{2}) + 28.016 q(N_{2}) + 39.944 q(A),$ 

and where the quantity G is defined by equation (5.80).

The number of gram atoms of oxygen contained in Mo grams of gas phase is given by

$$Q_{O}^{1} = \frac{1}{G} \left[ x(CO) + 2x(CO_{2}) + x(H_{2}O) + 2x(O_{2}) + x(O) + x(OH) + x(NO) \right].$$
(5.83)

The number of gram atoms of carbon and hydrogen in the same weight of gas phase are

$$Q_{\rm C} = q({\rm CO}), \quad Q_{\rm H} = 2q({\rm H}_2).$$
 (5.84)

If these quantities are substituted into the definition of C given in equations (3.2), we obtain

$$C_{1} = \frac{Q_{O}}{2q(CO) + q(H_{2}) + Q_{O}}$$
(5.85)

Now q(CO) and  $q(H_2)$  are functions of A and B, given by equations (5.78), and  $Q'_O$  is a function of the equilibrium composition, and therefore an implicitly prescribed function of A, B, the temperature, and the pressure. It follows that equation (5.85) is a relation of the form

$$C_1 = C_1(A, B, p, T)$$

for the location of the solid carbon boundary surface.

#### VI. THE THERMODYNAMIC PROPERTIES OF GAS MIXTURES

The thermodynamic properties of a gas mixture of known composition are easily determined by means of well-known relations. These relations are discussed in detail in standard treatises on thermodynamics. 17/ In the present section, we list without derivation the relations that are conveniently employed in the evaluation of the thermodynamic properties of combustion gases. We include in general form the relations for taking into account the effect of gas imperfection on these calculations.

#### The State Variables

The gross composition of the system has been quantitatively described for the purpose of the calculation of the equilibrium composition by the parameters  $q_j$ , j = 1, 2, ..., c, expressing the composition of the hypothetical mixture consisting of components only. The normalization of the  $q_j$ , expressed by equation (3.14), implies that  $q_j$  is the number of gram moles of the j-th component in the hypothetical mixture of components only whose gaseous phase is of weight  $M_0$ , where

$$M_{o} = \sum_{j}^{l} q_{j} M_{j} \qquad (3.15)$$

See also Beattie, J. A., Work cited in footnote 13.

<sup>17/</sup> See for example, MacDougall, F. H., Thermodynamics and Chemistry: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 3d ed., 1939.

and where  $M_j$  is the molecular weight of the j-th component. Explicit expressions for  $M_0$  have been given for each of the particular computation programs. The total number of moles of gas contained in a gas phase of weight  $M_0$  has been shown to be

$$n = G^{-1},$$
 (6.1)

where the general definition of G is

$$G = 1 + \sum_{i=c+1}^{s} (v_i-1) x_i.$$
 (4.11)

Explicit expressions for G have been given for each of the particular computation programs. We have also shown that

$$n = 1 + \sum_{i=c+1}^{5} (1 - v_i) n_i$$
 (4.16)

for a computation conducted in terms of the number of moles  $n_k$  instead of the mole fractions  $x_k$  of the constituents k = 1, 2, ... s. The mean molecular weight M of the gas phase is evidently given by

$$M = M_0/n.$$
 (6.2)

We have assumed that the gas phase is described by a law in one or the other of the alternative forms

$$\mathbf{p}/\rho = \frac{\mathbf{nRT}}{M_{o}} \quad \varphi(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{T}), \tag{6.3}$$

$$p/\rho = \frac{nRT}{M_0} \quad \psi(\phi T). \tag{6.4}$$

For an ideal gas,  $\phi = 1$  and  $\psi = 1$ . The first expression determines the density as a function of pressure, temperature, and composition. The second expression determines the pressure as a function of density, temperature, and composition. The molar volume v and the density are related by

$$\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{M}/\rho = \mathbf{M}_{0}/n \rho. \tag{6.5}$$

#### The Thermodynamic Properties of Ideal Gas Mixtures

The enthalpy and energy of a system are undefined to the extent of an arbitrary additive constant. This fact is of no consequence in practical applications, as one always wishes to know the difference of enthalpy (or energy) between two different states, and this difference is unambiguously defined. The enthalpy or energy of an equilibrium mixture of combustion gases must therefore be evaluated relative to some convenient state taken as standard. Evidently, in calculating the difference of enthalpy or energy between two states, the functions for each state must be evaluated relative to the same standard state.

As standard state for the equilibrium mixture of combustion gases, we shall usually employ the stoichiometrically equivalent mixture of elements, each element being in its customary standard state. The standard state of carbon is taken to be solid graphite at  $O^{O}$  K., and that for hydrogen, oxygen, or nitrogen to be hypothetical ideal gas at  $O^{O}$  K.

We define the relative molar enthalpy H of a gas mixture as the difference between the enthalpy of 1 mole of the mixture and the enthalpy of the stoichiometrically equivalent mixture of elements in their standard states. For an ideal gas mixture, we write

$$H^{*}(p,T) = \sum_{k=1}^{s} x_{k} (H^{o} - E_{o}^{o})_{k} + \sum_{k=1}^{s} x_{k} (\Delta_{f} E_{o}^{o})_{k}, \qquad (6.6)$$

where the asterisk is employed to specify that the quantity is evaluated for an ideal gas mixture. In this expression,  $(H^o - E_o^o)_k$  is the change in enthalpy when 1 mole of the k-th constituent is taken from its standard state to a state of temperature T and sufficiently low pressure such that the ideal gas law and the Gibbs-Dalton law are applicable, and  $(\Delta_f E_o^o)_k$  is the change of energy (equal to the enthalpy at  $O^o$  K.) accompanying the formation of 1 mole of the k-th constituent in its standard state from the elements in their standard states. The quantity  $(H^o - E_o^o)_k$  is a function of the temperature only that can be calculated by statistical methods from the spectroscopically observed energy levels of the k-th constituent.  $(\Delta_f E_o^o)_k$  is a constant for given k that can be deduced from appropriate colorimetric experiments. The relative molar enthalpy H\* of the gas mixture is a function of both temperature and pressure, as the mole fractions  $x_k$  are functions of both temperature.

For an ideal gas mixture, the relative molar energy E of the mixture is given by

$$E^{*}(p,T) = \sum_{k=1}^{s} x_{k} (E^{o} - E_{o}^{o})_{k} + \sum_{k=1}^{s} x_{k} (\Delta_{f} E_{o}^{o})_{k}, \qquad (6.7)$$

where  $(E^{o} - E_{o}^{o})_{k}$  is the change in energy when 1 mole of the k-th constituent is taken from its standard state to a state of temperature T and sufficiently low pressure so that the ideal gas laws are applicable. For ideal gas mixtures, we also have the well-known relation

$$H^* = E^* + pv = E^* + RT,$$
 (6.8)

where v is the molar volume and R is the gas constant.

The molar heat capacity at constant pressure Cp\* and the molar heat capacity at constant volume Cv\* can be computed by the relations

$$Cp^{*} = \sum_{k=1}^{s} x_{k} Cp_{k}^{\rho},$$

$$Cv^{*} = \sum_{k=1}^{s} x_{k} Cv_{k}^{\rho},$$

$$- 56 -$$
(6.9)

where  $\operatorname{Cp}_k^{\beta}$  and  $\operatorname{Cv}_k^{\beta}$  are the heat capacities at constant pressure and at constant volume, respectively, of the k-th constituent at temperature T and pressure sufficiently low so that the ideal gas laws are applicable. For an ideal gas mixture, we also have the well-known relation

$$Cp^* = Cv^* + R.$$
 (6.10)

The adiabatic exponent  $\gamma^*$  can be calculated from the relations

$$Y^* = \frac{Cp^*}{Cv^*} = 1 + \frac{R}{Cv^*} = \frac{Cp^*}{Cp^* - R}.$$
 (6.11)

 $Cp_k^{\rho}$  and  $Cv_k^{\rho}$  are functions of temperature only that can be calculated by statistical methods from the spectroscopically observed energy levels of the k-th constituent.

The molar entropy of an ideal gas mixture is given by

$$S^{*}(p,T) = \sum_{k=1}^{S} x_{k} S_{k}^{p} - R \sum_{k=1}^{S} x_{k} \log x_{k} - R \log p, \qquad (6.12)$$

where  $S_k^{\rho}$  is the entropy of the k-th constituent in the hypothetical ideal gas at unit pressure and temperature T and can be calculated by statistical methods from the spectroscopically determined energy levels of the k-th constituent.

In the consideration of combustion processes, it is frequently desirable to refer the extensive thermodynamic properties to a fixed weight of the system. The specific enthalpy h\* is the enthalpy per unit weight and is given by

h\* (p,T) = 
$$\frac{1}{M}$$
 H\* (p,T) =  $\frac{n}{M_0}$  H\* (p,T), (6.13)

the specific energy e\* by

$$e^{*}(p,T) = \frac{1}{M} E^{*}(p,T) = \frac{n}{M_{o}} E^{*}(p,T),$$
 (6.14)

and the specific entropy s\* by

$$s^*(p,T) = \frac{1}{M} S^*(p,T) = \frac{n}{M_0} S^*(p,T).$$
 (6.15)

The thermodynamic properties of the gas mixture, assumed to be ideal, may be considered to be functions of the temperature and density. The dependence of the properties considered on the pressure (or density) is explicit only in the case of the entropy. In the case of all of the other properties, the dependence on pressure (or density) is implicit, arising from the dependence of the equilibrium compositions on the pressure (or density). The relations given can be employed without modification for computation of the enthalpy, energy content, and heat capacities of the equilibrium mixture at specified density and temperature. The entropy is given by the relation

S\* (
$$\rho$$
,T) =  $\sum_{k=1}^{S} x_k S_k^{\rho} - R \sum_{k=1}^{S} x_k \log x_k - R \log \frac{RT \rho}{M}$  (6.16)

- 57 -

### The Thermodynamic Properties of Imperfect Gas Mixtures

Beattie $\frac{18}{}$  has comprehensively discussed the thermodynamics of imperfect gas mixtures that contains a systematic derivation of the general relations required to take account of the effect of gas imperfection on the calculation of the thermodynamic properties. In the present section we assemble those relations of interest in the consideration of combustion gases.

If the equation of state is of the form

$$\mathbf{pv} = \mathbf{RT} \ \varphi \ (\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{T}), \tag{6.17}$$

where v =M/  $\rho$  is the molar volume, one obtains the following relations

$$H(p,T) = H^{*}(p,T) - RT^{2} \int_{0}^{p} \frac{\partial \varphi}{T} \frac{dp}{p},$$

$$S(p,T) = S^{*}(p,T) - R \int_{0}^{p} [\varphi - 1 + T \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial T}] \frac{dp}{p},$$

$$C_{p}(p,T) = C_{p}^{*}(p,T) - RT \int_{0}^{p} [T \frac{\partial^{2} \varphi}{\partial T^{2}} + 2 \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial T}] \frac{dp}{p}$$
(6.18)

for the relative molar enthalpy H, molar entropy S, and molar heat capacity  $C_p$  of the real gas mixture at temperature T and pressure p. The quantities designated by an asterisk are evaluated as described in the preceding section. The integrals can be evaluated explicitly for particular forms of the equation of state. The relative molar energy content is evaluated from the relation

$$E(p,T) = H(p,T) - RT \phi,$$
 (6.19)

and the heat capacity at constant volume, if required, may be evaluated with the aid of the wellknown relation

$$C_{\mathbf{p}} - C_{\mathbf{v}} = T \left( \frac{\partial \mathbf{p}}{\partial T} \right)_{\mathbf{v}} \left( \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial T} \right)_{\mathbf{p}}.$$
 (6.20)

If the equation of state is of the form

$$\frac{\mathbf{p}}{\rho} = \frac{\mathbf{RT}}{\mathbf{M}} \quad \psi(\rho, \mathbf{T}), \tag{6.21}$$

one obtains the following relations,

$$E(\rho, T) = E^{*}(\rho, T) - RT^{2} \int_{0}^{\rho} \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial T} \frac{d\rho}{\rho},$$

$$S(\rho, T) = S^{*}(\rho, T) - R \int_{0}^{\rho} \left[\psi - 1 + T \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial T}\right] \frac{d\rho}{\rho},$$

$$C_{v}(\rho, T) = C_{v}^{*}(\rho, T) - RT \int_{0}^{\rho} \left[T \frac{\partial^{2} \psi}{\partial T^{2}} + 2 \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial T}\right] \frac{d\rho}{\rho},$$
(6.22)

18/ Beattie, J. A., Work cited in footnote 13.

for the relative molar energy content E, molar entropy S, and molar heat capacity  $C_v$  at temperature T and density  $\rho$ . The quantities designated by an asterisk are evaluated as described in the preceding section. The integrals can be evaluated explicitly for particular forms of the equation of state. The relative molar entropy can be evaluated from the relation

$$H(\rho, T) = E(\rho, T) + RT \Psi,$$
 (6.23)

and the heat capacity at constant pressure, if required, can be evaluated with the aid of equation (6.20).

## VII. DESCRIPTION OF A GENERALIZED TABLE OF THE EQUILIBRIUM COMPOSITION AND THERMODYNAMIC PROPERTIES OF COMBUSTION GASES

The Explosives and Physical Sciences Division of the Bureau of Mines is calculating a massive table that will list the equilibrium composition and thermodynamic properties at equilibrium, over an extended range of temperature and pressure, of gas mixtures containing compounds of carbon, hydrogen, nitrogen, and oxygen. The methods of computation described in this report have been employed in the tabulation.  $\underline{19}/$ 

The table includes all possible combinations of the four elements, the spacing of calculated points being small enough to permit accurate interpolation in the table. The temperature ranges from  $1,000^{\circ}$  to  $5,000^{\circ}$  K. and the pressure from 0.1 atmosphere to pressures great enough to include those of interior ballistics. The table is the result of nearly a million individual computations.

The results of the individual computations are recorded on punched cards. Because of the size of the project, publication in tabular form of the complete table is impractical. However, the file of punched cards constitutes a reference table with all of the computational results in easily accessible form. This reference table can readily be employed in the consideration of specific problems. The results of such applications will be published in a series of reports to be issued by this laboratory.

It is anticipated that the table will have a wide range of application to the special interests of many organizations. The cooperation of interested organizations is invited so that the greatest possible utilization of the table may be achieved. The Bureau will welcome suggestions for applying the table to specific problems.

The state is uniquely determined by specification of two state variables, for which purpose we select the temperature and pressure. In the table, the temperature takes on the values

 $T(^{\circ}K.) = 1,000 (100) 1,600 (200) 5,000,$ 

where the interval spacing of the argument of a table is given in parentheses, and the lower and upper limits for which the interval applies are given to the left and right, respectively, of the

19/ A preliminary announcement of this table appeared in Chem. Eng. News, vol. 27, Sept. 5, 1949, p. 2540-2541.

number in parentheses. This statement is to be read "The temperature, in degrees Kelvin, ranges from 1,000 to 1,600 with an interval of 100 and from 1,600 to 5,000 with an interval of 200."

A closer spacing is necessary at low than at high temperatures to permit accurate interpolation with respect to temperature in the table. It has been found by means of sample calculations that interpolation with respect to the pressure is facilitated by the use of a logarithmic scale. In the table, the pressure ranges from 0.1 to 100 atmospheres in the following way:

$$\log p = -1.0 (0.2) 2.0.$$

It is intended subsequently to extend the portion of the table that is of interest in considering gun propellants to pressures high enough to permit its application to the calculations of interior ballistics. In this portion of the table the temperature and density will be taken as the independent state variables.

In selecting the table arguments that define the gross composition, we have employed, for the heterogeneous region containing solid carbon, the quantities D and E given by equations (3.3). In the table, these variables take on the values

# D = O(0.1) 0.9E = O(0.1) 1.0.

For the homogeneous part of the table we employ the parameters A, B, and C, defined by equations (3.2). In the table, the variables A, B, and C take on the following values:

> A = O (0.1) 0.9 B = O (0.1) 0.5, 1.0 C = 0.1 (0.05) 0.9 subject to  $C \ge C_1$ .

For each composition defined as indicated and for each temperature and pressure, the composition at thermodynamic equilibrium is calculated by the numerical methods that have been described in this report. We have assumed that the mixture at equilibrium may contain the following gaseous constituents: CO,  $CO_2$ ,  $H_2$ ,  $H_2O$ ,  $N_2$ ,  $O_2$ , OH, NO, H, N, O, NH<sub>3</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>. This selection neglects a number of additional possible constituents, and it was dictated by the storage capacity of the computer. However, it is believed that the constituents of major importance have been considered. In exceptional cases, where it is desired to consider the existence of additional constituents, the present work will provide the starting basis for a more detailed calculation, which should be very simple.

The mole fraction of each constituent of the gas at equilibrium is recorded in punched-card form. In addition, for the heterogeneous mixtures the punched cards record the value of the dependent gross composition parameter, which defines the location of the carbon boundary surface. The results of the calculation of the equilibrium composition are employed in the usual manner to calculate the density, energy content, heat content (enthalpy), and entropy of the equilibrium mixture. The table of thermodynamic properties may be considered to be a Mollier chart, in punched-card form, for each of the different mixtures of the four elements considered.

In constructing the table we employed the values of the thermodynamic properties of the individual constituents recommended by the National Bureau of Standards. 20/ For pressures below 100 atmospheres we employed the ideal gas equation of state.

Only brief reference can be made here to some of the applications anticipated for the table. The flame temperatures of a variety of fuels burning under a wide range of conditions can readily be estimated. 21/ Hottel and Eberhardt22/ have discussed the application of Mollier diagrams to performance studies of internal combustion engines, and Sucrow23/ summarizes their application to performance studies of jet-propulsion and gas-turbine engines. The table will be useful in predicting the operating conditions for various gas-synthesis processes that will produce a product gas of desired characteristics.

<sup>20/</sup> Tables of Selected Values of Chemical Thermodynamic Properties: Issued at irregular intervals by the National Bureau of Standards, Washington, D. C.

<sup>21/</sup> Lewis, B., and von Elbe, G., Combustion, Flames, and Explosion in Gases: Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1938, Chap. XIX.

<sup>22/</sup> Hottel, H. C., and Eberhardt, J. E., Mollier Diagrams for the Internal-Combustion Engine: Chem. Rev., vol. 21, Dec. 1937, pp. 439-460.

<sup>23/</sup> Sucrow, M. J., Principles of Jet Propulsion and Gas Turbines: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1947, Chap. III.

. Exposes of investigations A205 - April 1952

# MESTRIBUTION LIST

i

Har of caster	<u>dour coses</u>
<u>1</u> .	Ormanding Afthear U.S.Nary Office of Favel Resperch Branch Office 195 Surrer Surget Booton 10, Marsachesette
<u>'</u> ].	Communding Orfficer U.S.Havy Officer of david Reace.ch Reacth Office Eq. North word Street Chicege 11, Thincis
2	Office of Revel Research Not York Bracch Office 346 Exoeduey New York 15, New York
3	Commanding Officer U.S.Nacy Office of Naval Research Franch Office SOI Domanue Street San Francisco 24, California
2	Assistant Naval Attache for Rosserch Naval Attache Azerican Enbassy Navy 190, c/o Flest Post Office Navy 190, c/o Flest Post Office
	Office of Neval Reserve Navy Department Wishington 25, D. C. Atom: Reports and Documents, Code 481
3.	Research & Development Foard Pentagon, Hm 32530 Washington 25, D. C. Attma Mr. R. L. Clark, Frogram Division
1	Office of the Quarbernaster General, USA Repettoh & DateLupsant Eronch Chamistry & Flastius Section Washington 25: D. C.
j.	Commending Officer U.S.Navy Office of Nevel Research Branch Office, 1030 E. Green Street Passdons 1, California

1

2

2

2

8

2

Ž.

## Addresses

Research and Dryelopsent Group Logistics rielation, Gatoral Staff Department of the Army Weshington 25, D. C. Abbr: Dr. F. T. Read Scientific Edvices

Director, Nevel Research Loboratory Weshington 20, D. C. Attn: Charletty Duvision

Chief of the track of Ships Navy Department Washington 25, D. C. Attn: Code 330

Chief of the Burgan of Aeronantics Navy Department Washington 25, D. C. Attn: Code TD-4

Chief of the Europe of Ordnance Novy Department Washington 25, D. C. Attn: Code Revd

Mr. J. R. Heeld Library of Congress Ameri Scientific & Technology Section Washington 25, D. C.

Dr. Kurt Wchl University of Delawars Namerk, Delawars

Project Squid Princeton University Princeton, New Jersey

Office of Nevel Research Wavy Department Washington 25, D. C. Attn: Power Branch

det Propulsion Laboratory California Institute of Technology Pasadeun 4, California

Readquarters, B. S. Air Porces Pentagon Washington 25, D. C. Atta: AFMRD=6

No. of coules	Addressee
کې	Commanding General Air Materiel Command Wright-Patterson Air Force Base Deyton, Chio Atta: TSEPP-12
L.	Battelle Memorial Institute 505 King Avenue Columbus, Ohio Atta: Mr. John P. Poster
1	Goodyear Alicraft Corporation Akron 15, Chio Attn: Dr. H. E. Sheets
Ţ	Dr. G. B. Kistiakowsky Harvard University Cambridge, Massachusetts
1	Project Meteor Massachusetts Institute of Technology Cambridge, Massachusetts Attn: Dr. C. T. Williams
2	Johns Hopkins University Applied Physics Leboratory 8621 Georgia Avenue Silver Spring, Maryland
Э.	Experiment, Inc., Richmond, Virginia Abtn: Dr. J. W. Mollen II
ì	Headquarters USAF Directorate Research and Development Washington 25, D. C. Attn: AFDED-R2=1
1	Atlantic Research Corporation 812 North Marfar Street Alexandria, Virginia Attn: Dr. A. C. Scurlock
Ì.	Office of Nevel Research Branch Office 150 Causeway Street Boston, Massechusette
1	Office of Nevel Research Branch Office 1000 Geary Street San Francisco, California

io e conta

-

•

÷

,

2	Châch who be a located at Novy Department Response 2010 - Ca Algori - Callo 1992
2	Obist, Luxers of An oractics Navg Department Waalisedon 25, D. C.
	Altri 51-532 22-5
** *	Chief, Bereur of Godeance Mary Department Mechington 25 D. C. Abros Ra2d, Boba and Reje
<u>)</u>	Chief, Subean of Shipe Navy Department Washington 25, D. C. Attr: Code 342-D Code 434-D
) I	Clines of Navel Operations Department of the Pery Washington 25, D. C. Abon: Op.51
)	Committee en Gulded Histories Research and Savaltanest Board Room 30 - 195, The Pertugon Pashington Ro, D. C.
	Constance of fishe and Labraicad a Feroarch and Dershopson's Beard The Pontagon Mashington 25, b. C.
	Cransida: U.S. Sizzi Concerco Szat Station Ingelern, P.C. Shire later Cattlerica December 1995
	Code 23-22
8 1	une estimator, constructor Marvalto Alternativo presis (tresso) Elementator Antereso, colletto de constru
•	to S. Kerd, Equiptering Supreme e Sur werged to the patient

<u>éc</u> si cosse 1 (b) S. Esar (1993) Barbary Indian Detty - Stylend 2 Sirector Received Actives as Constants for Second we 1996 I Shreen, I di Westington 25, D. C. Attac Wr. O. L. Jelas Director, Missi Responde Leberticon Washington 25. 0. Cu Astal Onder Value É. Departments of the second Olifice of the third of listingues. desthington 25, D. C. Astas 08070 Marset Plant de Loradou y WOND, WALKER Patroneen Ale Force Base Baycon, Oblio Atoms WEREP-4 1 breather, Sacetarch at 1 Development Ngadquertere, MSJY Westmand on 25. D. C AS的自己。 AL的我们从此就是问题。 Comparing Onlines Office of Colombia Pressority 2127 Martis Drives, Della Scarlass Ourhand, North Carollina, Comanier U.S. March Ordenect Interations White Oak, Silver Spring 19, Harpins Abon: The Lineary, Rosen Lagar ŝ. Superinterrient U. S. Marsh Preligeration, Scheel, Maral Analeney Armapolds, Faurelocd Constanting Otherse 我也就你对你吃了。"他的心心道。 Reader Alexander ACTAL REPORTS AND CONCEPT Conserving General ; ALL and GH Canter Ft. Blins, Texas

No. of codes	Addressee
<u>)</u>	Corona Laboratory National Aureau of Standards Corona, California Attna Chief, Massila Development Division
2	Centrel Air Documents Office U. B. Building Dayton, 2 Chic
<b>]</b>	Classified Technical Library Atmole Energy Commission 1901 Constitution Avenue Washington 25, D. C.
ì	Director, National Bureau of Standards Connecticut Avec and Van Ness Sto, NoW. Washington 25, D. C. Attn: Dro E. F. Fiock, Dynamometer Labo
1	Officer-in-Charge U. J. Naval Ordnance Experimental Unit c/o National Bureau of Standards Connecticut Ave. and Van Masa St., N.W. Washington 25, D. C.
<u>1</u>	Commanding General Aberdeen Proving Ground, Maryland Attn: Ballistic Research Laboratory
n Au	Commander Naval Air Developsent Center Johnsville, Pennsylvania
2	Commander U. S. Naval Air Missile Test Center Point Mugu, California
.j.	Chief of Staff, U.S. Air Force The Pentagon Washington 25, D. C. Attn: DCS/D, AFDRD = AC-3
2.	Commanding Ceneral Arnold Engineering Development Center Tullahoma, Tennassee Attn: Deputy Chief of Staff, R & D
Ĩ.	Commanding Ceneral Air Research and Development Command 5-11 W. Baltimore Street Baltimore 1, Maryland Attn: Chief, G. M. Division Directorate of Operations

## Addressee

Ĩ Chief, Guided Micsiles Branch Technical Comand Amy Chewical Center, Maryland 3 Commanding Stricer Piceting Assenel Dover, New Jarsey Attn: Inclusical Division Ĩs. Commanding Officer U. S. Nevel Proving Ground Pahlgren, Virginia Baffalo Electro-Chamical Co., Inc. 1 Buffalo 7, New York (Station B) Attn: Dr. N. S. Davis, Jr. 1 Aerojet Engineering Corporation Amsz, California Attn: K. F. Mundt ] Wyandotte Chemical Corporation Wyandotte, Michigan ] Purdue University Lafayette, Indiana Attn: Dr. M. J. Zuerow 1 Reaction Motors, Inc. Stickle Avenue and Elm Street Rockaway, New Jersey Attn: Mr. L. P. Heath 1 Applied Physics Laboratory Johns Hopkins University Silver Spring, Maryland Attn: Mr. Arthur Norris , in the second s Bell Aircraft Corporation Niagara Falls, New York Attn: Mr. Leslie M. Glass, Librarian 2 North American Aviation, Inc. 12214 Lakewood Blvd. Downey, California Attn: Aerophysics Library 1 M. W. Kellogg Company Foot of Danforth Avenue

> Jersey City 3, New Jersey Attn: Mr. Samuel Beig

No. of copies	Addressee
Ĩ.	Marquardi Aircraft Company 7801 Hayvenhurat Avenue Van Noyn, Cellfornia Attn: Mr. R. E. Harquardt
<u>3.</u>	Curtiss-Vright Corporation Propellar Division Celdwell, New Jarsey Atta: Mat C. W. Chillson
L	Fairchild Engine and Airplane Corp. Fairchild Engine Dirision Farmingdale, Long Island, New York
Ξ.	Chio State University Research Foundation Columbus 10, Chio Attn: Dr. H. L. Johnston
1	Cornell Aeronautical Lab., Inc. Buffalo, New York Attn: Miss Elma T. Evans, Librarian
1	Rand Corporation 1500 4th Street Santa Monica, California Attna Mr. C. K. Bauer
1	University of Michigan Aeronautical Research Center Willow Run Airport Upsilanti, Michigan Attn: Mr. L. R. Biasell
1	Massachusetts Institute of Technology Project METEDR Cambridge 39, Massachusetts Attn: Guided Missiles Library
l	Allegany Ballistics Laboratory Cumberland, Maryland
1	Shell Development Company Emeryville, California Attn: Dr. T. W. Evans
1.	California Research Corporation 200 Bush Street San Francisco 4, California Attn: Dr. P. C. Condit

.

Ĩ

¥

7